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I hereby declare that the following Thesis
embodies the results of my own special work, and that it has

been composed by myself.
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FOREWARD.

The materials for a study of the Quaker Movement
in Scotland in its historical setting and background have existed
until the present time in multifarious manuscripts, records,
pamphlets, books, and other scattered sources of various kinds.
The obJect of the present Thesis is to collate these into a
systematic and critical history of the rise, progress, and decline
of the Society in Scotland, and to attempt some estimate ™ of its
place in Scottish religion.

It has not always been easy to draw the line of
demarcation between the Movement itself and the historical Theology
connected with it, and the writer feels that in the latter field;
useful research might be undertaken in such theological subjects
as "The Westminster Confession of Faith and Scottish Quaker
Theology of the 17th Century", or "The Contribution of Historical
Quaker Theology to the Christien Dogmatic of to-day".

It may seem that the Thesis is unusually long, and
that the notes and references are too numerous, but in respect of
the latter at least, the writer can only respectfully submit that
in his judgement a pioneer work of this kind necessitates detailed
documentation, if it is to serve the most useful purpose,
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“ PROLEGOMENA : NAMES & MEMBERSHIP.

It is usually accepted that the Movement known
‘to-day as the "Society of Friends™ had its origin as a distinctive
religious entity in 1647, the year inwhichGeorge Fox began his work
as a preacher in England at the age of twenty-three.
At Mansfield in 1848 the new Fel%owship gave itself its earliest
name, "Children of (the) Light"... The title "Friends in the Truth",
or simply "Friends" was used as early as 1652, although the Society
did not formerly constitute itself till1737. "New Lights"™ was a
nickname given to a rebel section of Friends in Irelend in the
first decdde of last Century. Many of these were disowned for
their "modernist attitude™ to the formelities of the Society,
especially those relating to marriages.

The traditional origin of the appelationT™Quakers"
as given by George Fox himself dates from 1650 when Fox, who had
come from Chesterfield, attempted to address a religious,gathering
in the Church of Derby at the close of a "great lecture"*.

He was summarily arrested and hdled before two of the Magistrates.
In his apologia, given, as was his wont, with perfervid passion,
he, prophet-like, called upon the Justices to "quake" _at the Word
of the Lord : whereupon one of them, Gervase Bennett“, caught at
the verb, and in scorn stigmatised Fox and his followers as"Quakers"e

The mild acceptance of the title has been
called in question gnd its repudiation even within recent decades
has been advocated.

l. cf Braithwaite "The Beginnings of Quakerismm", (1912) p.44, and
Barclay's "Inner Life of the Religious Societies™, p.261.-

2. H.R.E. Vol V1, page 142 (Art"Society of Friends", by W.C.
Braithwaite).

3. cf Rathbone "A Narrative of Events in Ireland", (1804) pp 123-9.

4. Sewell's "History",(1811l) Vol 1, p.4l. According to Croese
("*General History" Bk.I,p.33) it was the Peesbyterian Church.

5. There is still much difference of opinion as to whether Justice
Bennett was a Judge. There is no mention of him in Foss's
"Judges of England". But cf.”Camb, Journal,” Vol I. pp 394-5.

6. Fox's "Journal" (Camb.Ed.) Vol I. p.4; cf Besse's "Sufferings"
Vol 1. title page, and Sewell's "History" (1811) Vol 1, P.43,

7. v Wm. Ball's Art. in F.Q.E. Vol.II (1868) P.68. cf.Ibid., P.69¢
Agnes Strickland's mention of "Trembleurs™ or "a sort of Quakers"
among foreign sectaries, |4

!
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The traditional origin of the term "Quakers"
however, requires considerable modification. It seems to have
existed before it was applied to any religious sect or faction.
Southey in his"Commonplgce Book", gives an instance of its earlier
use in "Quakers' Grass"~, But in 1647, the words "Quakers" was
applied not to the first Friends at all, but to a sect of Moslem
women, who came to Southwark, who "swell, shiver,and shake, and
when they come to themselves (for in all this fitt Mahomett's
holy-ghost hath bin conversing with them) they Begin to preache
what hath bin delivered to them by the Spiritt®®., Additional
support of the contention that the term "Quakersmantedated Justice
Bennett's stigmetisation of the Friends in 1650 seems to be lent
by Burns and Nicholson in their record of one, Francis Higginson,
who appears to have been Vicar of Kirkby Stephen during the
Protectorate. Higginson was a bitter foe of the Quakers, and
was instrumental in bringing Nayler to trial at Appleby Quarter
Sessions in 1652,10 Higginson speaks of a people of whom many
"in their assemblies, sometimes men, but more frequently women and
children, or they who had long fasted, would fall down suddenly
as in an epileptic fit, and there lie groveling upon the ground...
Whilst the agony of the fit was upon them, they would foam at the
mouth, their lips would quaver, their flesh and Jjoints would
tremble, and their bellies swell like a blown bladder. In such
fit they continued sometimes an hour or two, and when it left then,
they roared out with a loud voici and horrible. All which easily-
accounts for the name of Quakers 1 being given to em, " )
exact date of this recorded utterance is certainly indeterminate,
but the latter phrase underlined is the significent one. It
clearly implies that Higginson's outburst was prior to Fox's trial
before Justice Bennett, - though it could not have been very long
before -, and refers to some extravagant ang_fanatical sect of
which sort Englend had more than its share. 2+in that era of

8. Second Series, (1850) P.123.

9. Clarendon M.S.S.No.2624, per the Oxford English Dictionary,ed Murray,
Vol 8, P.15.

10. For the mutual bitterness between Higginson and the "Northern
Quakers™ as he calls them,v "A Reply to a book which is full
of lies and slanders set forth by Higginson, a priest ete®
(1654)—(P.49 of, "and appendix to"™, An Answer to a Book which
Samuel Eaton put up to the Parliament, ete".) cf Fox's "Great
Mystery" (1659) pp.66 ff.

11. The underlining is mine. v Burn and Nicholson "History of
Westmorgland®, (1777) Vol.l, pp. 536=7. cf "A Brief Relation
of the Irreligion of the Northern Quakers' (1653) P.15.

12, Edwards in his "Gangraena®" catalogues the ™monstrous opinions
and practices“of 176 English sects of the Commonwealth period.
This is probably an exaggeration due to confusion of names or
tenets. cf McCrie"Sketches of Scottish Church History'Ch.IX,
P.313 n, also Hendersoms "Mysticts of the Novth- East, #P /qi-2.
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religious sensationalism. If Higginson's invective had been
subsequent to 1650, he must surely have been ignorant of Justice
Bennett's appellation, which is inherently unlikely, as the title
"Queker® soon "ran over all England"from Derby}3and Fox and James :
Nayler planted the Quaker stizdard in Westmorgland (Higginson's

own county) as early as 16527 Higginson's reason for calling

such ecstatic sects "Quakers", was almost certainly the common one
prior to the Derby Sessions in 1650. "Quaker" or "Trembler" was

then merely a common generic term, used intermittently for centuries
in all religions from the time of the neurotic excitement and
sheking of the Delphic priestess, to cover well known physical
phenomena, Indeed several years later than 1650, when the Friends
‘were becoming well established, not all who were called "Quakers"
were connected with the Society of Friends, and during subsequent
decades Friends iwere blaimed forsome things for which they were not
responsible.,

Turning now from external evidence of the generic
use of the term "Quaker" prior to Derby 1650, we find that with
the exception of Giorge Fox and Sewell - and even they seem &
little indefinite 5-, the most notable Quaker authoritief are in
substantial agreement. . Robert Barclay tells us 1€ that
the name was given because of the trembling and severe inward
conflict between the "two contrary tides" of the spiritedevil and
the 8pirit of God manifest in individual Friends as they woishipped,
or when "the power of God broke forth into a whole meeting" 7.

When Jemes Nayler was tried for blasphemy at the Appleby Sessions
imr— 18652 before Justice Pearson, he was asked by the latter how
it came to pass that people quaked and trembled. "The Scriptures”;
replied Nayler, "witness the same condition in_the Saints formerly,
as David, Daniel, Habakkuk and diverse others".l8 Although the
Quakers are not specified exactly, it is probable that the Judge
had them particularly in mind, and it is certain that Nayler hgd:
also that he did not attribute the origin of their title to Justice
Bennett. George Whitehead said that "Persecuting Adversaries"™ gave

13. Sewell's "History"(1811) Vol 1, P.43.
14, "Journal®, ( Camb. Ed.) Vol. 1, PP 51-4.

15. Fox's "Great Mystery", (1659) PP .61, 110. cf Sewell's ™History"
(1811) Vol. 1 P.43, where Sewell is rather self-contradidory.

16. "Apology", (14th Ed. 1886). Prop. Xl. Sect.¥YIII. P.257.

17. cf Sewell's "History", (1811) Vol I, P.43. re some formerly
flagrant wrongdoers.

18, Besse's "Sufferings®, (1753 Ed.) Vol.II, P.5.




It is intevesting Po note im passing that Forty years later —

m January (109 Wodvow, in a lettey to Tames Hog of Carnock,

calls the Quakevs the “"elder brethven" of the inhabitants
of the Cevennes (the Camisards), seveval of whom had cowe over
to this countvy about 1y06 after an armed vising against
the French Govevnment. While most unlike the Quakers in
using carvnal weapons, tThe Camisards were Toted fov ecstatic
Phenomena and bodily contortions wunder one or othev of
their degrees of “Inspivation’, Hence Wodrowd Tvefevence bo
those "that Preteml to be wnder the SPlYJ.t:c,_ WOTkl'ﬂgSf‘ QLA
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Friends the soubriquet "because of their Trembling at the Word

and Power o{ the Lord God as many of His Servants and Prophets

have done".1® wWhen William Penn was in Germany, he met an old

man Dureus,'zO who "for his approaches toward an inward Principle

is reproachfully saluted by some with the honest Title of Quaker".
And lastly, George Keith, more than 20 years before his defection,
wrote in 1670 from his cell in the Edinburgh Tolbooth, "These
bodily quakings and tremblings did also seize upon diversz and from
this, the name "Quakers" was in scorn cast upon friends." 15*

In brief then, the term "Quakers" was a loose
generic term used for an indefinite time before 1650. and after
that date with reference to non-Quakers?2. ; Justice
Bennett by no meams originated it, as is usually supposed, but
he crystallised and popularised the word with reference to Fox and
his friends, unwittingly meking it the title which has stuck to them
both in law and popular usage to this day, at home and abroad.
The earliest appearance in print of the term "Quaker" is thought
to be in Thomas Hall's "The Pulpit Guarded with Seventeen Arguments™
(1652), and the earliest legal mention of the term occggs in the '
Proceedings of the Council of State of 1l4th June 1654.

But while the Society of Friends has never regarded
it as a sine qua non to the true apprehension of the Spirit that
the worshippers’inward travail should be expressed by visible
trembling or outward commotion, they have shown no real dislike
to the title., Fox, however, is the notable exception to this
general rule., He always hated it, and wrote a letter in somewhat
strong language to Justice gznnett, characterising him as "given
upp to misname the saints.”

19. v "Truth Prevalent", (1701) PR 16-17. ¢f "Christian Progress”
P.l02.

20. "Travails in Holland and Germany" year 1677, (1694) pp.52-3.

2l. v "The Benefit, Advantage and Glory of Silent Meetings", P.15.
ef J. Crook "Truth's Progress", (1667) P.4; also Brown's
"Quaekerisme the Pathway to Pggenism" P.419.

22. cf Barclay's "Inner Life of the Religioms Societies" pp 317-8.
The smme kind of phenomena were seen in theMethodist Revival

and among Jonathan Edwards’s converts. - -

23. Halls "Pulpit Guarded)Pis: and S, BD, Cal. 1654 ,P 210.

24, "Journal", (Camb.Ed.) Vol I, P.5. cf Bennett's éubsequent
slander of Fox in London. (v Braithwaite "Beginnings of
Quakerism" pp.119-120.)

AA. v Wodvowss "Covresrondence'; Yol I P qo.
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It only remains to add that despite religious
sects being most fashionable in those days, the Friends did not
regard themselves as a Sect, and official "membership” in a
Society was unknown till June 1737, forty-six years after Fox's
death. This was rendered negessary for ascertaining who were
eligible for poor relief., An intermittent history of imposition
and deception lay behind this constitutional change, and after more
than one unsuccessful attempt to delimit membership in practice,
the London Yearly Meeting decided that "all Friends should be
deemed members of the Quarterly, Monthly or Two-weeks Meetings with-
in thgscompass of which they were living on the first day of June
1737,

The primary ground of union or rather adhesion
amongst the first converts had been extremely nebulous, viz.,"union
of sentiment in regard to Christ's inward teaching".26 "Anyone
convinced by what he heard ang living in the spirit of what it
meant, became Truth's friend" 7, i.e., profession of "convincement™
was the only means by which one could be recognised as belonging
to the Movement. But in 1737, the London Yearly Meeting, in
additionfconstituting ordinary membership thus, made a revolutionary
change by adopting a resolution that children were "to be deemed
members of the Monthly Meeting of which the Father is a membern28,
This status of membership which still survives, is known as
"Birthright Membershipm., It signifies that from the moment of birth
the children of Friends are ipso facto themselves Friends in name
and rights, though there 1s no little evidence that fallure of many
to be Friends by "convincement" and in spirit is one cause of
the decline of the Society in different parts of the World.
"Birthright Membeaxrship" is sté&l rather a vexed question which has
been more than once reviewed,“®, most notably in 1900 on a motion
from the Berks and Oxford Quarterly Meeting. But the London Yearly
Meeting decided after a full debate to retain the status quo, while
emphasizing the need of members$® earnest care for their young peopls,
lest in the words of Samuel Bownas any grow up "but a traditional
Quaker and that by Education only, and not from the Scriptures.” 31

25. "London Yearly Meeting during 250 Years", P.35,

26. Preface to the "Rules of Discipline of the Religious Society of
Friends with Advices", (3rd.Ed. 1834 ) P.VII.

27. E. Brockbank "Richard Hubberthorne of Yealand", (1929) P.82.
28. Minutes 6f L.Y.M. 1737, (Vol 8) P.318.

29. E.8. F.Q.E. Vol.V (1871) P.216; Helen Balkwill's Art.(Ibid
¥ol.V. pp.524-533); A.F. Fowler's Art. (Ibid Vo. XXI pp 25-34)ete,

30. "London Yearly Meeting during 250 Years" PP. 81-2.

3l. "An Account of the Life, Travels, etc. of Samuel Bownas?
(2nd.BEd. Reprinted in 1895) P.S5.
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7.
CHAPTER I,

"THE FIRST SEED SOWN,."

Apart from Juakers found in the English Army of
Occupation, the very first Quakers known in Scotland were
Alexander Hamilton, John Hart - both probably yeomen, and Richard
Rae (Ree or Ray), a Shoemaker. 0f the triumvirate, Hamilton has
slight priority. HamilZton's home was at Drumbowy, three miles
South of East Kilbride. He was one of "several serious enquirers
into the nature of true religion and the purity and spirituality
of Gospel worship",l who were very dissatisfied with the stand-
ards and prevailing formality and atmosphere of the National
Church. That their dissatisfaction and secession were not alto-
gether without reason and justification is clear from such con-
temporary writings as James Quthrie's "The Causes of the Lord's.
Wrath ageinst Scotland™ 2 and "A Humble Acknowledgment of the
Sins of the Ministry of Scotland,™d both published in 1653. As a
result of 'working out his own salvation in fear® and probably
also in'trembling'4 Hamilton arrived independently at the Quaker
position in 1653,° He and his wife and sister had been esteemed
members of East Kilbride Church, which was™a congregation of
Independents or Anabaptists,”6 whose lMinister was Thomas Charteris,
a "Protestern, The Hamiltons' departure from the congregation
was regretted by all, and Charteris, after futile endeavours to
win them back, threatened them with excommunication, Notice of
this was duly served dn the "convinced™ Hamilton in 1656, but the
sentence was never carried out.?

1. Besset's "Sufferings®, ( 1753) Vol.IT, P 494.

2. Especlelly 3 Article,PP 19-32: 5 Article,P 36: 2 Step,P 49:
7 Step, PP 62-65,

3. An Appendix to "The Causes™".

4. cf Jaffray's "Diary"® (3rd ed) P 194: also v Hodson's "Select
Historical Memoirsm™, (1844) PP 177-8 and the "Aberdeen Letter"®
quoted in Jaffray's "Diary™ Note R, PP 167-171.

5. Parallel cases to Hamiltonts are the earlier religious
experiences of James Nayler, George Whitehead and Thomas Story.

6. Scottts "Fasti", ( new Ed.) Vol.IIL, P 267. Charteris held his
living by the favour of the Cromwellian faction, and apparently
cared more for horses than souls,

7. Besse's "Sufferings", (1753) VolIL, PP 494-5.
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John Hart belenged to Heads, one of three
villaggs in the parish of Glassford in the middle Ward of Lanark-
shire. Hart suffered persecution in_Glassford and Hamilton
about the middle of the Protectorate,g but curiously enough, there
is no account of him in Besse. This is all the more strange, as
during the reign of Charles II, he suffered forefaulture. His
name appears in the list appended to the Scots Parliament Aet of
July 1690, "rescinding the forefaultures and fynes since the year
1665", by whatsoever Court or Commission imposed. In accordance
with the Claim of Right and for the better settlement of the
Peace and tranquility of the Kingdom, the Act bears that m"the
decreets and doomes of forefaulture pronounced against the perseons
aftermentioned ... shall be voyd, and of no availl, force,
8trength nor effect in all tyme comeing, rescinding and reducdng
the samine for ever", Accordingly Hart was "rehabilitated,
reintegrated and restored to his goods, fame and worldly honour",
He was clerk for a time to the Hamilton Monthly Meeting, and
registrar also. He had a ready wit and could bring it to bear on
contemporary events. He was a witness at several marriages and
his name is found in a HMinute Book of Hamilton Monthly Meeting in
1671, as a witness to the Deed of disposition of Hew Wood,
Nurseryman and Gardener to the Duke of Hamilton, drawn up in
favour of the latter's four sons. A curious coincidence may be
noted in passing, viz., that there was another John Hart (possibly
a cousin) a native of Glassford, and a Covenanter, Ygo was
martyred at the Cross of Glasggow in December 1666.

0f Richard Rae, littif else is known. He must
have removed to Edinburgh after 1663. About that year, during
the first wave of persecution in Aberdeen, he was imprisoned in
the Tolbooth for six months. From 1670 to 1675 he assisted James
Brown, the tanner in the Westport and others in trying to secure
a Burial Grignd and Meeting House, but seemingly met with great
difficulty.

The girst meetings in Scotland were established
in 1653 by Hamilton 13 at Drumbowy, and at Heads by Hamilton and

8. N. Carlisle "The Topographical Dictionary of Scotland", Vol I.

9. v post Ch.5, PP 2,5
10.Thomson's "Martyr Graves of Scotland® Ch.VIII, PP 138-9.

11, Skene's "Breiff Historicall Account"® P.3.
12.cf post Bk.IL, Ch.XVI, EX.

13.Sewell's "History", (1811) Vol I, P.159.
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Hart conjointly in the latter's house. The Minister of Glassford
was William Hamilton ("Wise Willie Hamilton"), and although he

had done a considerable amount to mitigate the bad ecclesiasfical
oour in the district which he found on coming to Glassford,

there was still sufficient popular dissatisfaction with the Chureh
remaining to provide a seed bed for the sowing of the new Truth
fairly successfully.

Meetings were soon after started at Gartshore in
Dumbartonshire, 24 miles East of Kirkintilloch,and at Badcow in
the same neighbourhood. These meetings were established for fully
a year before they were known to, or linked up with, any Friends
in England. But when Fox visited the Badcow Meeting in 1657, it
seems to gave been comparatively strong in testimony if not in
numbers.1?,

14, Hamilton's predecessor was deposed for evil living, a case
which ranged the parishioners and the Synod of Glasgow
against the Presbytery of Hamilton and the General Assembly;
while his predecessor, John Bell, was presented only after
much opposition and threat. v Scott's "Fasti" (New Ed.)
Vol III. P.253.

15, Fox's "Journal"®, (Camb.Ed.) Vol. I, P.293.
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CHAPTER II.
"THE EARLIER OR PRE-FOX MISSIONERS OF THE FIRST PERIOD.

The early Quaker Movement was nothing if not
strong in proselytising zeal, and hardly had the new Light
obtained a footing in England, before that "dark and carnal people™
of Scotland was marked out for missionary enterprise. "After that.
the Lord God in His infinite love and glorious power had visited
our neighbour nation of England with His dayspring from on high...
it also pleased Him in the same love to visite this natione of
Scotland by sending of His messengers to proclaime the glade
tidings of Salvatione whereby many were gathered from the barren
mountains to feed In the pastures of life, and brought into the
sheepfold of rest and peace".l They bought up every opportunity
and method of spreading their message, which they fearlessly propa-
gated in court-room and market-place,in churches and private
houses, by open debates with "professors®" and by tireless writing.
Wherever they went they carried their quills and inkhorns, writing
prolifically in hospiteble lodgings, in noisy wayside taverns,
in prison, and even on board ship. )

There is no disputing the fact that these English
"First Publishers of Truth", as well as their Scots comrades had
abundant enthusiasm, "nascent energy", and physical and moral
courage, whatever else they may be held to have possessed or lacked.
They were in deadly earnest as envoys of Truth. The two north- 1
country bases in Englend from which successive "missionary"
campaigners into Scotlend set out were Westmorland, where
Quakerism first obtaiged a foothold in 1651, and Yorkshire where
it took root in 1652.Y Sometimes these English campaigners
itinerated solitary and alone as Robert Barrow4; morgoften in
pairs as Caton end Stubbs; Audland and Camm; or in little groups
of three to five, es Fox and his companions. The two main routes
were (1) through Carlisle, By Canonbie, Dumfries, Douglas,
Glassford,and Hamilton to Glasgow, and (2) through the Bgrders
by Berwick, Jedburgh or Kelso to Edinburgh and Stirling.” These
early pioneers,known as "the Seventy" were assisted financially
at varying periods, apparently according to their needs, from two
centres, Kendal and Durhem, and latéy from Balby, Yorkshire.
Margaret Fell of Swarthmore Hall was the chancgllor of the
Western exchequer, and in the Swarthmore M.S.S? there is a valuable

1. "The Record Book of Friends of the Monethly Meeting att Urie"
in J.F.H.S.VII, P.91. -
2. Also from Cumberlend. v Besse's "Sufferings!(1753)Vol II,Ch.I,P.)

3. 1Ibid Ch.lV, P.89. _
4, vV His letter to Stephen Crisp and Geo.Whitehead quoted in
"Collectitia®, P.365. se5 taken by the English
. A fairly complete ldst of probable routes taken y the glis
° Quakersywillpbe found in the F.S.A. (Scot) Proceedings. S5th
Series Vol II, PP 36-44. (Art. by H.R.G. Inglis) -

6. The Swarthmore MSS. Vol.III, PP 499-660, partim.

1
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and detailed collection of over 70 letters to her from her two
financial secretaries at Kendal, George Taylor, fronmonger, and
Thomas Willan. These letters on finance cover the period 1654-
1658, and while most of them are merely formal statements of
income received from Friends in various meetings and of expenditure,
there are occasional interesting sidelights on these transact ions.,
The disbursements fell into four categories; (1) for necessary
perscnal outfit or equipment ranging from "britches" and "showes™
to the replacing of a confisca;ed horse; (2) for travelling expenses
(3) for the purchase of books;’ and (4) for judicious relief of
Friends in prison or other cases of need as in the instance of the
grant to John Camm, who was voted £2. 0. 0. "to himself or others
as he sees cause", Lancelot Wardell, one of the Durham treasurers
in a statement of accounts which he sent to Kendal showed that out
of his funds in hand he had made payments for travelling Friends
especially in Scoflend, precisely similer in character to those
made from Kendal.~ But in those first years of pioneering venture
for the Truth, the treasury was not always commensurate with
missionary zeal, though there is no evidence of any unfair advan-
tage of it being taken, and at least once Taylor and Willan were
compelled to nlett friends knowe that the generall Stock at

Kendall is disburst and there is great QOccasion now, soe manie
being mousd of the Lord to goe into other Nations, and manie in
prisons". Probably a situation such as this determined Margaret
Fell on the change of finanfial arrangements which she submitted

to Anthony Pearson in 1657. 0 In course of time after the estab-
lishment of a system of Monthly and Quarterly Meetings, the
travelling expenfis of"Stranger" Friends were authorised and met

by these Bodies.,

The very earliest of the missionaries, the ,
vanguard of the "First Publishers of Truth" were "Friends with the
gift of Ministry living in the North-West of England". Estimates
of their number vary from sixty-five to seventy-four, but they
are usually denominated "ghe Seventy} of whom about one eighth
were women, in spite: of the Bauline prohibition, which the Quaker
argued was meant to apply only to the silly women of Corinth and
never to those who were divinely inspired like the four virgin

7. ¢f Swarthmore MSS, Vol.ITI, P.514.("To Jemes Graeme at Edinburgh
for Bookes".) |

8, Ibid, PP. 609-610. (~,‘ .

9, Ibid., P.519. J.J. Gurney gives a good and clear account ("Obser- -
ia%iong" Pps 236-8) of how Ministers are called to undertake
itinerant missions. This account, though late,is substantially -

true over our whole period.
10.letter in Swarthmore MSS, Vol.II, P.201.

ll.cf Stephen's "Quaker Strongholds", (1890) P.15.
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daughters of Philip the evangelist, (Acts XXI 9), or the_ women

who laboured with Saint Paul "in the Gospel" (Phil 1V 3)12,

More than half of "The Seventy" were people of considerable
education and personal influence in their home districts, as well
as of material substance, less than 40% receiving any kind of grant
from the Swarthmore Fund. The necessity of such financial assis-
tance was mitigated however, by the magnificient spirit of
independence and self-sacrifice which many showed. They made
extraordinary efforts to maintain themselves and their families
when absent from home or in prison, while the women left behind
acquired a praiseworthy and remunerative efficiency in agrieulture,
trade, and other "secondary"occupations. A substantiel ma jority
of "The Seventy"™ were closely connected with the land, - pro-
prietors, tenants, and labourers: then came the merchant gnd Ero-
fessional classes, Two of the women were domestic servants,ld

It is not altogether easy to reconstruct to-day
the fear and internal struggle with which many of these early
pioneers received the first intimations of their "call"™, when "a
concern came upon them" to become travelling preachers for the
Truth. It was not merely the common missionary hardships exper-
ienced in all epochs, - long and frequent absences from home, with
scanty and irregular news reaching the "Publishers", with few fixed
addresses for any length of time, with nothing like any modern
system of postal services, and frequent robbery of mail coaches:;l4
derision and vile abuse, sometimes almost unto death, at the hands
of the religious and 'worldly' sections of the people alike: im-
prisonment and excommunication: or a repetition of the whole gamut
of Saint. Paul's perils (II Cor.XI.23-28). William Caton certainly

did write to Thomas Willan from Leith in 1659, that he felt " as in

A forrest or wildernesse, where I should bee in great jeoperdy,did
not the Arme of the Lord's power Compaige mee about... by which I
was brought well through the country”. Still, these concomitant
hardships and dangers were taken by "The Seventy" in their stride
cheerfully and courageously as inevitable. It was the domestic

aspects of their missionary journeys that touched the quick of their

minds, especiglly in the case of those with direct.dependents.
There are few details of these early Friends' married life extant,
but those which survive are full of significence. Stephen Crisp was

12, Sewell's "History", (1811) Vol II, PP 585-6. cf Keith's pamphlet
"The Woren Preacher of Samariay which presents the case for
women preachers in a piquant way. At the same time, early

leaders of the movement were alive to the inadvisability of em= j

ploying them too freely,and any travelling female minister if
not satisfactory, was quickly sent back.

13, A valuable study and analysis of "The Seventy" and others is
given in the Presidential Address of the F.H.S.1921 by E.E.

Taylor, quoted in J.F.H.S. XIX,PP.66 fT. , _
14. cf. "Letters etc. of Early Friends" Ed. A.R. Barclay(1841)P.256

15. Swarthmore 1SS, Vol I, P. 394.
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"loath to forsake his dear wife and children"16 to go "to bear
witness to that high professing nation "of Secotland, and struggled
with his heart and conscience to plead his care of them, and his
own unfitness, as multitudes from Moses' day have done, but in vain,.
In John Banks’s "Journal™ we are presented with this problem of faith
and conjugel duty, perhaps not more acute than many others, in which
the writer is torn between a compelling urge to labour away from
home and an equal urge to fsmain and help his wife to shoulder a
well-nigh crushing burden. Miles Halhead's wife was chagrined

for about a year at his frequent absence from home. "I would to God
that I had married & Drunkard", she said, "I might have foundlgim
in the Alehouse, but I cannot tell where to find my Husband."

There was the present day problem of the mission-
ary's femily in the case of Thomas and Elizebeth Holme, whose
children were given over to others to allow of the mother continuing
her ministerial work. But the separstion so preyed upon the .

ather's mind, that he was unable to conceal his hope that the
concern"of his wife to traIsl would cease to exist., They were
badly used in Scotland too. Both however, died early, and the
unhappy result of the virtual ignorance of their children was2 that
the latter "walkslnot in the steps of theire honrable parents"%0

On a comprehensive survey however of "The Seventy"
and the other "First Publishers of Truth" it is manifest that the
secrets of their initial success in spreading the "Inner Light"
were their spirit of perfect comradeship, their deep sense of
loyalty and mutual responsibility in all their vicissitudes, and
their solidarity of aim and purpose. Before the Act of Indulgence
in 1672 at least, the necessity which they felt of trying to con-
vince an overwhelmingly hostile public of the Truth that was dearer
to them then life, and of presenting an unbroken front against
civil and ecclesiastical persecution,welded them into a solid phalanX

Of "The Seventyﬁ, at l§ESt forty-nine, as far as
can be ascertained, went into Scotlend.<+ The majority .

16, ¥ Fell Smith's "Stephen Crisp & his Correspondents 1657-1692"
(1892) Intro. P.XX. cf Budge "Annals of the Early Friends",PflS4.

17. "Journal"®, (1712) PP.22-28; 36-38.
18, msufferings & Passages of Myles Halhead"(1690), P.8.
19. v Broadside "To you the Parliament sitting at Westminster%(lssg)

200 FoPoTo, P.2605

21. There is considerable disparity between W.F, Miller's list (FFus
XII. PP 79-81) and a list of "The Seventy" given by Taylor in
his Presidential address already referred to. But this can be
accounted for by the "considerable doubtful margin® which Braith=
waite considered to exist. Some on Miller's list were not"public
-they were not of "The Seventy". John Bowrom, Katherine Evans etq
are not in Taylor's list.As several who visited Scotland are
acecording to F.P.T.without dates, the above figures can only be .
teken 8% best as fairly approximate. o
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of these, forty-one, belonged to the pre-Fox group, (i.e. those
before Fox's arrival in Scotland) ; three accompanied Fox into
Scotland; and probably six were post-Fox missionaries of the
first period of the Movement. They were "publick", or duly
authorised ministering Friends, but a few of the other"First
Bublishers" were ™"not publick", i.e., private itinerants not
travelling officially or under any obligation to "give forth a
sound®", The general rggeption they got in Scotland may be
gathered from Nicoll's attitude and language, when he complains
of the rise at this time of m"great numberis of that damnable sect
of the Quakeris quha being deludit byzgathan, drew mony awgy to
their professioun both men and women"““, In contrast to this was
the spirit of hospitality shown to "Stranger Friends" by most
Scottish Quekers, and those whom the missionaries found or made
"very tender®, We have no evidence of when the custom of
accompanying and guiding "public" Friends on their journey begen,
but it is on record that William Miller of Holyrood was one of
five Edinburgh Friends about 1734, who, "mutually agree to take
our turns or to find one in our steads to accompany Travelling
ffrds on their journey".®4 In course of time the provision of
guides seems to have become the recognised custom, but as this
was ultimately considered too oppressive an expense for hosts to
bear, the London Yearly Meeting resolved that all such expense

as well as lodging where there were no Friends! _houses should in
future be "defrayed out of the general stock".2° The value of
"public" Friends was many sided. They visited the imprisoned;
they were spirituel advisers to many ig times of crisis: agd news
carriers and private envoys as well as Publishers of Truth.

The Journals and other records or fragments of
these early missionaries of the Protectorate are thus of the
greatest value, for to such sources we are largely indebted for
information about the general condition of religion and society
in Scotland, and for the knowledge we have of the origin and
development of Quakerism during its early years of struggle and
persecution in the Northern Kingdom.

It is neither possible nor serviceable here to
attempt any exhaustive list or account of the missionaries of the
pre-Fox period. A list as complete as it %%n be made stands
already over the signature of W.F. Miller. Of some of the early

22, John Nicoll (1590-1667) was a Writer to the Sjgnet in
Edinburgh, and bitterly hostile to the Quakers.

23, Nicoll's "Diaryl(1836) P.147.

24, "Edin. Quarterly Meeting Book", (M.S.Vol 15 .)— Back page.

25, Oxley's "Journal"(1837) P.283. This question will be further
dealt with in Supplem. Chapter II.

26, Art.,"Stranger Friends visiting Scotlend" in J.F.H.S. XII,

' PP. 79 ff.
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missionaries we know nothing in their relation to Scotland beyond
the fact of their having visited it; of others, the data are very
fragmentary; while of others our knowledge is comparatively full

and of real value.

To James Nayler, "the reproach and glory of
Quakerism”®, falls the honour of being the earliest Quaker preacher
from England of whom any record remains., We are not however, at
present concerned with yhat Carlyle has called "the terrific
phenomenon of Nayler",z but only with his preaching during his
military days in Scotland. Enlisting in the Parliamentary Forces
soon after the outbreak of the Civil War, he served seven years
in Fairfax's Infantry during the English campaign. He was then
transferred to the Horse of ngor General John Lambert - Lord
Lambert as Deacon calls him 28- in all probability on the eve of
the Scottish campaign, and received the responsible and difficult
commission of Quartermasteyr in Lambert's army, when the conditions
of billeting and rationin 9ere no sinecure3 Lambert had a high
opinion of Naylers efficiency and integrity, Ogs he afterwards
testified at his Trial before Parliament. From one of Cromwell's
officers, riding in Scotland at the liead of his troops, we know
that Quartermaster Nayler was present at Dunbar Drove in 1650,
for after the battle, he found Nayler preaching to a crowd of
people "with such power and reaching energy as I had not till then
been witness of". "I was struck with more terror by the preachéng
of James Nayler" he says "than I was at the Battle of Dunbar®. 1
This was no extraordinary phenomenon then, for most of the Par-
liamentary soldiers were, alike by religious training and by the
active encouragement of Cromwell _himself, as good and fearless
preachers as they were soldiers. Strangely enough, although
Nayler was still an Independent and not a Quaker by profesgéon,
neither became one till he was "convinced" by Fox in 1651 after

27, "Letters of Oliver Cromwell", (1888) Vol.ITT, Prefatory Notes
to Letter CCXVII P.213.

28. Deacon's "An Exact History of the Life of James Nayler etc!"P.4.

29."Cromwell's Armyg(lgoz) Pp.223-4.

30. Burton's "Diary", Vol. I, P.33.

31. s Gough's "Memoirs", PP.54-5. Also quoted in ‘Jaffray's
gg?:ry".(grd.Ed) P.413.’Note A. and Brailsford's "A Quaker from

32. Clarendon's "History of the Rebellion"”, (1826 Ed) Vol.V,P.428.
cfaNeal's nHistory of the Puritans®, (1837) Vol II, P.424jand
Carlyle "Cromwell's Letters and Speeches". (1888) Vol II. P.246.
(Cromwell's letter to Colpmel Hacker at Peebles,)

33, Sewell's "History" (1811),Vol I, P. 234 n; and Tuke "Biographical
Memoirs®, Vol.II, P. 67. (They are wrong in giving 1649 as the
date of Nayler's leaving Scotland. Sewell's date of the outbreak

of war,K1641,is also wronge.
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being invalided out of the Army in Scotland,34he converted to
Quakerism this unknown officer of Cromwell. "I could:mot help stay-
ing a little" (to listen to Nayler preaching) he says " though I
was afraid to stay, for g was made a Quaker, being forced to tremble
at the sight of myself"3 . In so far then as Nayler must himself

. have been a Quaker by 1650 in everything but name, and doubtless
"convinced" many others also, he is entitled to the honour of being
the first English "Publisher of Truth" in Scotland that we know.
There is no evidence that Nayler was ever back in Scotland. Russell
in "The Haigs of Bemersyde" is confused in his chronology,36 and
there is no need for Jaffray and others to insist that Nayler never
came in contact with the little Quaker flock at Drumbowy and Heads,
as they had not reached the Quaker positio% or established meetings
till two years after Nayler left Scotland.®?

Between 1651 and late in 1653 or the beginning of
1654, there is no record of any other missionary. In the latter
year thirteen visited Scotland. Of the labours of half of these
there is no information extant. The region covered was practieally
the Forth and Clyde, the places visited by one or more of the
thirteen being Glasgow, Pouglas,erné Stirling, Edinburgh and Leith.
The most notable of the missionaries during this year were
Katherine Evans and Sarah Chevers, the heroic women whose terrible
sufferings for conscience’ sake under the Inquisition at Malta a
few years after,is one of the epics of Quaker history, but of whom
in Scotland notﬁing is known; Edward Burrough of Kendal, the "Son
of thunder gnd consolation", before his long mission to London and
the SOuth;:3 John Bowrom and Christopher Fell of whom mention will
be: made again; Miles Halhead, William Caton and John Stubbs. At
Dumfries Halhead narrowly escaped serious injury, but he was no
stranger’to this in England. He had entered the Parish Church (or
"Steeplehousem), apparently during a Communion service, for there
were many people "gathered together in a deceitful manner, Howling .
and Crying & making a great Lamentation, as though they had been
touched with a sight of their sins"3¢ - a phenomenon not then
unknown at Scottish sacraments. After the4: priest had ended his
customgry performance in the Steeplehouse™, Miles "spoke as he was
moved. <But "many of them being in great rage," probably because
he disparaged the sacrament, he and Jemes Lancaster, his companion,
were driven out of the town, and only escaped stoning at the hands

34, cf"Cromwell's Army", P. 272.

35, v note 31 supra.

36, "The Halgs of Bemersyde", Ch. X, P.262.

37. Jaffray's "Diary", P.195.

38, No actual date can be found, but it was about this time.(1654)

v Spence MSS. Vol III, Folio 7.
39.") Book of the Sufferings and Passages of Myles Ealheadﬂ(l690)P13

40, Besse's "Sufferings"(1753) Vol II. P.495.-—Another suggestion I
think of the sacrament being celebrated.
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of the infuriated women, by wading across the Nith. It must have been
low tide, for the river was then navigable for coasting vessels.

Caton and Stubbs were two of the most scholarly
of "The Seventy". The former was Secretary at Swarthmaye Hall.
He abridiid end edited an edition of Eusebius’ "Ecclesiastical
History"=+, which was;printed in Rotterdam and published in 1661.
Stubbs had been a Rouﬂpead in the Parliamentary forces, but there
is no evidence that he ever served in - the Scottish campaign, and
he was not a "Regular". He was a Qlassical and Oriental scholar,42

and for a considerable time kept a school in lancaster,

The missionary Friends who visited Scotland in
1655 numberell?, ineluding five who had previously gone in 1653-4,
All but three were beneficiaries of the Swarthmore Fund, One,
William Stockdale, or Stockdell was Irish, Six according to Besse
had either already suffered imprisonment or other form of persecu-
tioh outside Scotland, or were about to later in the same year.
The most notable visitor to Scotland in 1655 was Anthony Pearson of
Rampshaw Hall, Durham, one of the Justices who had tried Nayler
at Appleby Sessions. This trial led dramatically to the "convince-
ment" of Pearson, who for years kept "correspondence for the
discontented party in London and Scotland"., But after the Restor-
ation, he recanted his Quaker faith, and in the County Pelatine of
Durham he signed an affidavit in 1661 to the effect that since the
Restoration, he had no part or lot in any correspondegge between
Engltsh and Scots Friends, nor any knowledge thereof.

During 1656-7, prior to October of the latter year
when George Fox himself arrived in Scotland, the influx of Stranger
Friends to Scotland was even greater than in 1655, the total amount-
ing probably to twenty-three, In the th instances of John Lang-

. staff eand Anthony Pearson, Fo¥'s“Journal records that they-zgre
expected in Scotland "about y~ time? But they 4id not come. ‘
Parker, however, one of Fox's lieutenants, in his Scottish campaign,
was in Scotland several months before his leader. Six of those who
came in 1656 received grants in aid from the Swarthmore Fund, A
few of the entire number were North again for the second or even
third time. There are several notable names among them, but as these

41, The full title of Caton's work is given in his'Jour%alﬁ(znd Ed.
1839) P.99. It is also found in Whiting's Catalogue”Vol.I,P.25,
and Smith's"“Catalogue”vVol I, P.393. Caton himself called it

for brief "An Abridgement".
42, v Webb's "The Fells of Swarthmore Hall", (1867) P.1l0l.

43, S.P.D. Cal. 1661-2, P. 18l. v also Braithwaite's "Beginnings",

P. 1l4. |
44, "Swarthmore MSS. Vol Is P. 359. (Letter fram William Caton te

Lancelot Wardell 1656
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must be dealt with more fully in other connections, they may be
omitted here,

The last year or eighteen months of pre-Fox
missionary enterprise in Scotland is importent for three things,
(1) it numbers among its Stranger Friends the first wamen in
Scotland of whom there is any record. Prior to 1656 there were
three other women - the Malta heroines and Elizabeth Holme, but
of their travels or work in Scotland we know nothing. The
evidence for the former, Anne Hargrave (or Hargrove) and Margaret
Bradley is certainly inferential, but it is all but conclusive,
In a letter to Secretary Thurloe from Leith, dated December 28,
1657, his correspondent, Captain Timothy langley, complaining that
"they still send new ones (English Friends) almost every week
into these parts", states that " the two women (unnamed) are now
gon West... They spare no pains and voluntarily goe into those
places where they may meet with most want of outward things; which
makes them the more admired if not adored at their returne by
their diciples... Our women Quakers in this towne... have hired
a chamber... to meet in, and have another at Edinburgh; soe that
they meete dayly... They have great hopes of gaining a lady in
Edinburgh, and boast of many converts in the West..."45.

(2) In 1656-7, the first persecutions of Stranger Friends in
Scotland are recorded, though as has been noted, persecution had
already begun in England., The storm centres were Glassford,
Strathaven, Rutherglen, East Kilbride and Glasgow chiefly, eand
with de travelling victims Scottish Friends shared the persecu-
tion.

(3) About 1656-7 the flood of Quaker pamphleteering and propagan-
dist literature began to make itself felt in Scotland. Even
travelling Friends, despite all their hardships and difficulties
were prolific writers; and books, tracts for the times, manuscript
messages, prophetic denunciations against classes and communities,
epistles and miscellaneous pamplets were broadcast throughout the
districts visited. In England it had been a feature of the
Society from the time of James Nayler. As a malcontent critic
remarked "the Leaders... of your Sect have taken a sinfull liberty
to themselves in their printed books... In these printed Libels
and in your Manuscripts that flye as thick as Moths up and down
the Country the ablest of your party, the Auzgors of them have
said and railed and censured and slandered.” In Scotland the
authorities were now becoming alarmed at the amount of sectarian
literature that was streaming into the country, in whose dissemin-
ation Alexander Parker and’ later Fox, seemed not unnaturally to
have been most assiduous. Monck ordered the Commanding Officer at _
Leith to place an intromission on both of them, and intercepted a
large consignment of books from Newcastle cesting fourteen shil-
lings carriage, with a covering letter. This letter and specimens

5. Thurioe "State Papers"®, Vol VI, PP 708-9.

46. v post Ch.V. X .
47, v EL Brief Relation of the Irreligion of the Northern Quakers",

Intro. ("To the Seduced followers of Geo. Fox, Jemes Nayler et&k;
PP 2-30
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of the literature aforesaid, Monck despatched from Dalkeith to
Secretary Thurloe in February lGS%,suggesting that same measures
might be taken to prevent the printing of such papers.48 But
amid the increasingly confused and threatening situation in the
country, during the closing years of the Protectorate, Cromwell
and his Secretary were too preoccupied to concern themselves with
the nuisance of Quaker propaganda. At all events, it was still
apparently unabated late in the year 1658, when William Dewsbury
paid his first visit to Scotland, and George Watkinson, an ex-
captain’in the army, who had been cashiered by Monck, wrote to
George Fox fram Leith, that people "desired to have had_ye ongs
written downe yt W.D. spoake; they were soe taken with yo. Seu

of ye papers were disperisd, even soe many as well in our travell
could bee gott written®.

A consignment of books fram Fox in 1659 was
reported to have been burnt, and probably was, for Lady Margaret
Hamilton failed to discover any trace of them. Only a fegothat
Fox sent her specially to give to General Monck survived.

And two years before, a similar consignment of "true Books" worth
£10. 0. Oa..had been stized by Monck and the Council,and never
restored.51 ’

Fox seemed however, to have been alive to the
danger or inexpediency of overdoing such propagandist publications,
for soon after his release from Launceston Gaol in 1656, he
published a paper of wise counsel at a General Meeting, in which
inter alia, he urged Friends to "take heed gs Printing any thing
more than ye are required of the Lord God".

It is impossible to estimate the mileage covered
by these "First Publishers of Truth" before the advent of Fox in
Scotlend, but it must have been great. And under the prevailing
physical conditions, it was remarkable. Most of the roads in
Scotlend were "green" or drove roads, and what main arteries there
were,constituted a daily danger to life and limb, so neglected and
ianﬁnter impassable, were they.55 No form of transport was safe,
and accidents were frequent. Bridges were usually very narrow and
steep. These conditions obtained until the 18th century, for the
deys of Wade, Macadam, and Telford, "the Colossus of Roads"were not
yet. Robertson in his "Survey of Kimcardineshire" tells us that

even as late as 1760 when Robert Barclay M.P., the Father of Barclay-
Allardice, the pedestrien, succeeded to the estate of Urie"there was
no cart nor wheel carriage of any kind, nor was there even a road”o4

48. Thurloe's "State Papers" Vol VI, P. 8l1.

49, letter in Swarthmore MSS, Vol IV, P.391. 50.Ibid, PP217-8,
51. Broadside "To you the Parliaement sitting at Westminster?(1659)
52, Fox's"Epistles!'No. 131.(P.104)

53. c¢f "Proceedings of the Society of Antiquariansof Scot." 5th seriei

Vol II. (1915) PP 18-20.(Art.by Inglis on"The Roads that led to
Edinburgh')

54, P. 325,
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CHAPTER III.

/"

" THE SOCIETY TAKES ROOT IN EDINBURGH.

The honour of being the first Quaker apostle to
Edinburgh is still in doubt as between Christopher Fell and John
Bowrom, though it is likelier that it belongs to the latter.
Aceording to John Barclay, Fell, who may have been a Cumbrian was
one of "several Gospel messengers from Englan? whose feet were
turned* in the direction if Scotlend in 1653, Bowrom, & gbrkshire-
men, reached Scotland soon after his convincement in 1653. At
Edinburgh he preaghed to the people as he went through the streets
and at the Cross, Open-air preaching was then anibnovation in
Scotland as a policy or under normel circumstances, for the few
previous instances of it on record, e.g., George Wishart's preach-
ing at the West Port, Dundee, in 1544, during the Plague, or the
dying testimony of Walter Mill in 1558 at St. Andrews~can hardly
be cited as preckdents. We have no knowledge how Bowrom fared
with the Edinburgh populace generally, bug though the English
soldiers were "kind" to him, "the priests“were in a rage against
him for he was a dread to them".

. The soil, however, had been prepared to some
extent for the English "public” Friends by one of the earliest 6
native preachers of the "Inner Light", William Osborne (or Osburn).
0f Osborne we unfortunately know comparatively little. He had been
e lLieutenant-Colonel in the Parliementary army, and yas now became
"a zealous minister amongst the flock" at Edinburgh.’ ~His house
was the earliest meeting place of the Society in the Capital of
which we have record, and Friends enjoyed this hospitality till
1656, when Osborne removed his home to near Badcow. At all events
he was in, or near Badcow in 1657, for Fox relates the well known
story of Osborne, himself, and the waysgde robbers, and how they
probably saved Widders from spoliation.

l. Or very early in 1654. cf Fox's "Journal", (Camb.Ed.) Vol I,
PP 450-1;and J.F.H.S. Vol XII. P.79.

2. Or beginning of 1654. Ibid.

3. "Piety Promoted", Vol I, Part III, P. 233.
4. Lindsay's "Chronicles of Scotland",Vol II, P. 136.

S. A "Priest" to the Quakers was an ordained minister of any Church
or Order who drew a stipend or emoluments of any kind in virtue
of his office. The Quekers were not the only persons who
crossed swords with the Scots Clergy. Some of the army Chapleins
also did so, and this may have predisposed certain of the soldiers
to the Quekers. (of "Cromwell's Army"1902) P,325,)

6. Besse's "Sufferings", (1753) Vol II, P.494:Sewell's"History%(1811)
Yol .1, P;159.

7. Ibid,’p.i81.

8. Fox's "Journal"®, (Camb.Ed.) Vol I, PP 303-4.
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Immediately after Fox's bloodless victory over the robbers, and
before his very brief and only visit to the "Highlands", he records
that at Osborne's house they had a good opgortunity to declare
nye truth to several people that ceme" in. .

Quakerism at first made a considerable stir in
Edinburgh among all classes, - Ministers, serious hearers and
enquirers, and the irresponsible mob. The Churchmen quickly began
to harden toward their vehement and massed opposition which ultima-
tely crystalliged into their curses and appeal to Caesar during Fox's
visit, but for the moment they were too busy with their internal
ecclesiastical disputes and factions to organige any combined resis-
tance to the new Truth. There was, however, one, John Stalham, a
temporary preacher in Edinburgh who was very vigorous with his pen
against the Quakers., 1In his "Contradictions of the Quakers®,
Stalham charged them with teaching that the Scriptureswere not the
Word of Truth, nor the ground and motive power of Christian action,
but that the law of the New Covenant was written in the heart. He
further arraigned them for denying Seriptural warrant for the
doctrine of the Trinity; for their teaching of immediate revelation,
of conversion through the Inner Light and of perfectionism, and for
their customary attitude to sociel conventions and civil require-
ments. He criticised or attacked partim Farnworth's "Light risen
out of Darkness", and other contemporary Queker works. Farnworth
apperently, in e representetive capacity, replied for the Friends
to Stalham, as also did an anonymous writer "P.E." in a pamphlet(hxia
entitled "The Scriptures Vindication aegainst the Scottish Contra-
dictorsn, Farnworth's pages written for the"wise hearted™ as well
as"against all proud, covetous selfe-seeking, hireling Priests in
Scotland", are full of force, not lacking in humour, as when he
sgys that "Paul did not always groan and sigh (for his sin) as
dissemblers and Scots do", but the argument is in certein parts very
weak, e.g., in his reply concerning the Trinity, and parts of the
pamphlet are not only abusive but vitriolic. But the Church herself
had no reason to boast or preen her feathers,

Resolutioners and Protesters were ranged against
one another and often engaged in battles of fierce invective and
mutual recrimination, not only with one another but with Baptists
and Sectaries. In addition, Cromwell's policy of interdenominational
toleration in Scotland was meking the confusion in the Church still
worse confounded. A Declaration issued by the Commissioners of the
Parliesment in April 1652 promised toleration not only to the Church
of Scotland,but "to all others who not being satisfied in conscience
to use that form, shall serve and worship God in any other gospel
way, and behave themselves peaceably and inoffensively therein®,

Very soon a few ministersend officials declared themselves in favour
of the"Independent Way"0 and attempts were made, not unsuccessfully,
to form congregations. :

9, Ibid, P.304.
10.Firth's "The Last Years of the Protectorate", Vol II, P.l0l.
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§To make this "hellish invention" of toleration worse, an Ordinance
of August 1654 promised Separatist Ministers state support,

by which "the Commissioners for regulating the Ministry, while
employing the stipends of the parochial Churches for the support
of the Presbyterian Clergy, were entrusted to 'provide out of the
treasury of vacant stipends or otherwise as they shall think fit a
competent maintenance for %uch ministera who have gathered Con-
gregations in Scotland'."l In spite of all this encouragement,
however, Separatism never flourished, partly because the soil of
Scotland has never been congenial to Independency.

But these serious disputes, together with the
quarrels of Resolutioners and Protesters, which not all the en-
deavours of Robert Blair and Jemes Durham could terminatel4caused
a great deal of confusion and trouble in the country. The general
disorder affected not only Edinburgh, but Glasgow, Dundee and St.
Andrews also, for in consequence thereof the Communion waf not
observed in some of their Churches for a number of years. 5 The
spiritual life of the Church as a whole lacked cohesion as we
might expect, when one was saying "I am of Paul"™ and others "I am
of Apollos™ and "I am of Cephas". It is little wonder that the
minds of many more serious and earnest people were repelled fraom
the Church and its factions, especially when the only thing to
which all these sects and denominatiggs could bend their energies
was their opposition to the Quakers. Coming on the scene when
the spirit of religious discontent wes abroad, the Quakers in
Edinburgh and other parts of Scotland had a great opportunity which
would have been more abundantly crowned but for their extravagances
of language, custom and action, and their imperviousness to other
people's opinions, traditions, and varieties of religious experience.
As it was, they began s0 well in Edinburgh that Nicoll is driven to
admit, that in January 1655 and "in sindry uther monethis preceiding
and mony monethis following, tggir rais up great numberis of that
damnable sect of the Quakeris, In March 1656 "multitudes of

1l. Baillie's "Letters"”, Book III, P.309.

12. It was thus that Thomas Charteris, Hamilton's former Mininster
was an Independent. After renoincing Presbyterianism, he gathered
a little flock of Separatists, and obtained from the English
Commissioners the wealthy living of East Kilbride.

13, Firth's "The Last Years of the Protectorate", Vol II, P.102;
Nicollt's "Diery", P.167.

14, Burnet's "History of his own Time"; (1883) PP 36 40ff etc, cf
Walker's "Scottish Theology and Theologians"(Sec.Ed.+——1888)
PP 104-5.

15. cf Brown's "History of Glasgow and of Paisley ete"™(1795), Vol.I,
Ch.V, P.119. "

16, L.A. Barclay "Selections from the Writings of Patrick Livingstone
(1847) PP.31l-2. ’

17. Nicoll's "Diary", P.1l47,.
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Quakeris increst...And the divisioun of the Ministrie in thair
Judgementis and oginiounes did much contribute to the incres of
these errouris.nl This is corroborated by the lament of the '
Edinburgh and other ministers in February 1658, in which Dickson,
Robert Douglas, Mungo Law and others informed Celemy and Ash,
preachers in London, that "there is a great decay of the power of
religion and a great increase of prophanity by reason of the con-
dition of the times", so that many "who were at first only em-
barqued by our Brethren in their way, are now turisd aside to
errour, yea and diverse of those became Quakers",

Among the city rabble who cared for none of these
things, interest in the Quakers did not simply spring from the
usual sources, - curiosity, and the chances that the situation
threw up for hooliganism or horse-play. Nicoll's testimony has to
be accepted with caution on account of his bitter prejudice
against the Friends, but there is little reason to doubt his
substantial accuracy when he records the populay belief that the
Quakers practised black arts aided by the devil. They thus made
a sensational appeal, especially to the masses and the "baser
sort®, unwittingly no doubt, but none the less definitely. The
devil "careyit them from ane place to another. They made swallows
to come down from their gBimneys and made them to cry out *My
angellis, my angellis'," Andrew Lang compares the "miracles”
attributed to the Quakers to phenomena of modern Spirit;ual:i.sm.zl

Whether then "of envy and strife" or of love,
the Quaker message and witness undoubtedly exercised some in-
fluence in Edinburgh in the mid-Cromwellisn period. The next
English visitors after John Bowrom were Miles Halhead and James
Lancaster in 1654, fresh from their escape from the Nith at
Dumfries., They spent ten not very eventful days in Edinburgh
and Leith, Halhead speaking to the people "when occasion offered;
as also to the garrisons and tb the €aptains and @fficers of the
army who were much affected."”22 In the light of the very favour-
able, if not cordial reception that the military seemed to have
afforded him, and in the absence of other data, it is not easy
to see the appositeness of the rather stern prophetical manifesto
which he hurled at them, that the anger of the lLord was kindled
against them for having failed to implement their promises made
to Him in the day of their imminent peril from their enemies

18. Ibid,PP177-8.

19. "Register of the Consultations of the Ministers of Edinburgh"., |

Vol I, PP. 342, 343.
20, Nicoll's "Diary", PP. 147-8.

2l. "A History of Scotland from the Roman Occupation",(1904)
Vol. III, P.276.

22, Sewell's "History", (1811) Vol I, P.159. ¢f "A Book of
Sufferings and Passages of Miles Halhead", (1690) P.13.

{
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and, instead, for having returned Him evil for good and committed
v1olence against those He sent to declare His Word amongst them.23
It was probably a kind of stock utterance of Halhead's, which he
felt called upon to deliver in season and out of season, for, as
Besse plainly adds "having performed his duty in this respect”,

he departed. During his sojourn in Edlnburgh, he appeared before
Colonel Fenwick, the Governor of the City , but upon what charge
or for what purpose is not known.

The year 1655 was the zenith of Quakerism in
Edinburgh during the Commonwealth and Protectorate period, and it
was due preeminently  toc William Caton.__Caton paid three visits to
Scotland, including Edinburgh,in 1655,2° 1656,and 1659. On the
first occasion he was accompanied by John Stubbs for part of the
time, and for the remainder by John Slee, another English Friend.
Caton was particularly happy in these travelling colleagues,
especially as " our travails were grggt and our sufferings many
both in the inward and outward man". He reached Edinburgh from
Berwick-on~Tweed with Stubbs. "I do believe™, he wrote, "scarce
any of the brethren that travelled abroad ... ever agreed better
than we did, or were more mutual in the%g service and in other
things incident to travellers than we", On their arrival in
Edinburgh, the first thing that compelled their attention was the
unsatisfactory condition of their religious group. "We found
things somewhat out of order there through the unfaithfulness of
some that were convinced of the Truth, but who 4id not order their
conversation aright, neither did they live as became the Gospel,"<8
Whether the trouble was divided counsels, lukewarmness in their
missionary enterprise, or personal bickerings and jealousies, will
probably never be known. But despite the Youllfulness of Caton -
he was only in his nineteenth year -, the endeavours which he and
Stubbs put forward to rectify the condition of things were success-
ful, and "through the effectual influence of their ministry, better
order was restored".2?

The spiritual forces of the Quaker colony being now:
rallied and reinforced, the Friends were ready to follow the lead
of Caton in other ways. Thelr private ort"silent™meetings were
frequent, and still held at William Osborne's house, and they had
"many gallant" public meetings in the City. The great open-air
:eendezvous was the Castlshill, where at least twice weekly many
hundreds of people including no doubt many soldiers from the Castle

23, Ibid,PPl2-13; Sewell's "Hlstoryﬂ(lall)4V61{I,P.159;'and'Bessebg
"Sufferings"(l?BS) Vol II, P. 495. -

24. Sewell's "History", (1811) Vol I1I, P. 289.

25. Or the emnd of 1654.

26./ Journal* of William Caton,(2nd Ed.—1839) P.38. 27. Ibid.

28, Ibid, PP.38-39,

29. Gough's "History of the Quakers" Vol I, P.168.
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heard the Quaker message "in much power and plainness™ so that the
Society increased in confidence and numbers. licoll reluctantly
corroborates that "thair pretendit sermoundis and hortatiounes®
drew ™much pepill, sum to heir and sie and sum _utheris to reverence
thair judgementis, errouris, and opiniounes.""30 Converts were made
from both Znglish soldiers of the Army of COccupation and from
Edinburgh inhabitants, who paraded the streets and squares openly
with their new fellow-rellglonlsts. In 1658, "the magistrates is to
take course with those who go vaging upon tne streets and on the
Castlehill etc'™, and to police them and apprihend all who are out
of their houses or of Church during sermon.

None of these public assemblies or open manifest-
ations of the "Publishers of Truth" seems to have occasioned any
determined opposition, or led to violence or breach of the peace.
It was when the Quakers began to invade the Churches that disturb-
ance and tumult really began. The "steeplehouses™ and their
*hireling priests™ they abhorred. To the Jusker it was only a
superstitious idea which regarded the "Church" as a specially holy
place, or "consecrated houses™ where alone the Gospel could be
nronerly prea ged John Barclay however, refutes the general view,
and maintains that however harsh and 1ntolerant "steeplehouse™
may sound, its connotetion is in no way meant to imply scurrility or
opprobrium\of the Church and its worshippers, but only to emphasise
the comparative lack of distinetion or reverence that the fuaker
felt for outward temples. The Quaker simply protested against the
idolisation of a special "House of God", when the real abode of God
is everywhere, especially in the souls and bodies of men which are
His temple.

Guakers thus frequently came into conflict with
3cottish Church authorities and worshinpers. 30ldiers were blamed
for damaging chairs and furnishings in Churches, and Andrew Lang
states” that Quakers in Edinburgh interrupted the preachers in Grey-
friars' Church.3® Whether this is accurate or not, a commotion was
certalnlg caused in 014 Greyfriars' by a Guaker demand to the
inisters? to prove his calling by signs and mirecles, and by
vehement incitement of the congregation to deny all ministerial
teaching and ordinances, and to repudiate all knowledge acquired by
such means in favour of the "Inward Light". It is not surprising
that soon after,in 1657, the General Kirk Sessions, including Grey-
friars' minuted a resolution "to confer wwth[?knuf] Councell anent
the quailkers whose blasphenous tenets %nd cariage is likely to bring
a judgement if it be not restrained."? |

30. Wicoll's "Diary",P. 177.

31. General Rirk Sessions Iinute of 5th April 1658, quoted in Bryce! s»
"History of the Qld Greyfrlals' Church Fdinburgh», P.101l.

32. Jaffray's "Diary", (3rd.=d.) Note C, P.415.

33."History of Scotland",vol III, P.276.

34. llost likely Robert Trail, but possibly Mungo law.

35. Bryce's "History of the 0ld Greyfriars' Church Edinburgh, P.10l.
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William Caton was impelled, especially on one occasion,to go to the
leading place of worship. He waited quietly for the Minister to
finish, but had herdly begun to address the crowded congregation
before it assumed a threatening attitude, and a "big push" began.
On reaching the street, a guard of soldiers with drawn swords was
waiting in readiness to resgue Caton from the throng and convey him
safely beyond their reach.9%Thus they were thwarted from doing out-
side what considerations of sanctity and perhaps superstition
restrained them from perpetrating inside.

The Church in question was most likely Saint
Giles’, though the possibility of the Tron must not be excluded.
Caton himself calls it "their high place of worship" (cf the "High
Kirk") and "the chiefest in the City"$7 while Sewell terms it the
chief "steeplehouse?38 The East Kirk of Saint Giles’was the
regular place of worship, or "exercise" for Cromwell's tronps,sg
although the Tron was also occasionally used. The latter was
practically shorn of its regular worshippers after ZBe Battle of
Dunbar, when the soldiers virtually monopolised it. The congreg-
ation which threated Caton is not’likely to have been a military
church parade either in St. Giles or in the Tron, but a general
audience which would meet more probably in the former.

The question of Quakers entering places of worship,
interrupting preachers,and disturbing services, is one upon which
there is a certain amount of misunderstanding and misrepresentation.
It is essential that it should be considered in the light of its
17th Century background and conditions, and not with reference to
usages and customs of our own time. The Churches in England were
then much less restricted in use either on Sundays or on week-days
than they are now. By an Act of Mary Tudor's reign the malieious
disturbance of a preacher in his discourse or in the celebration of
Divine service was made a punishable offence,4 but the service must
be actually proceeding at the time,and this law all through the
17th Century did not extend to proclamations or exhortations after
the sermon was over. Provided the preacher had finished, it was
perfectly legal and in accordance with the usage and manners of the
age to speak thus, and some incumbents were even ready to hold
discussions with preachers of other denominations. In Scotlend in
addition,there was the authority of "The First Book of Discipline®
of 1560, which, although rejected by the Scots Parliament, was
-accepted by the Church ahd —permitted and even encouraged the
exercise of prophesying and interpreting the Seriptures in Church
after the Minister had dons on Sunday,or on a convenient weekday.42

36. cf ActsXXIIT,6 t0. = .

37. Caton's "Journal", (1839) P.39.

38, Sewell's "History", (1811) Vol I, P.181.

39. Cameron lees’ "St. Giles’Edinburgh ete",Ch.23,P.225.

40, Butler's "George Fox in Scotland", (1913) P.1l9.

41, Halsbury "The Laws of England", (1909) Vol 9, PP.477-8.

42, v "The First Book of Disciplinen, (1560) Ch.XII, Capita 2,3,6.
c¢f "The Book of Common Order", Ch.VI.
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Thus the English Quakers had every encouragement to believe that
the privilege they enjoyed at home extehded to Scotland also.

It is undoubtedly true that Fox had set a bad examg%e in his very
early days, though he later came to see his error. But there

is evidence of only a few occasions when Quakers in Scotland
created any pandemonium or interruption while the Minister was
conducting the service.

(1) In St. Giles)} Edinburgh, where Quakers made their appearance
and "interruzted the sermons to the great annoyance of the
preachers".4

(2) In Greyf:xiars' Church, Edinburgh, most probably.

(3) In Stirling, during Caton's second tour in Scotland when he
went to the Parish Church. (how the Holy Rude Church) He admitted
that "being there at the very time when the priest was going about
to swear some of them upon some occasion", :

was '"moved to speak and iell them ﬁoﬁ that Christ séidiswéér not
at a11'4‘but little more would they suffer us to speak in that
placen,49

There is more specific evidence, however, on the
other side. At Dumfries, Miles Halhead "was silent until their
worship was done".46 Neither at St. Giles’nor at Glasgow Cathedral
did Caton utter a word until after "the priest had done",47and
George Fox, personally, seems to have avoided "steeplehouses™
altogether in Scotland, and preferred to hold his public meetings
in neutral buildings or in the open. About this time,(1654-5)
according to Brown, the Presbyterians complained much of the in-
trusion of Sectaries, especially of the Quakers railing "on the
Ministers in the face of the congregations on the Sabbath day"with
impunity.48 But this may quite well have been after the service
before the people dispersed, and in any case there was no Act in
Scotland corresponding to Mary Tudor's. Nor were the persecutions
and penalties of the Quakers in Scotland during the Commonwealth
meted out upon the ground of interrupting Ministers and congrega-
tions during service, In fine, while the amount of disturbance of
Scots preachers and people during worship seems to have been
negligible, what declamation and trouble there was in the churches
took place just after the services, and was due to the English
Friends who enjoyed this common and recognised licence at home,49
and, encouraged by the "First Book of Discipline" arrogated to
themselves the right to have the same in Scotland. In addition,
they had the precedent and example set them by Cromwell and his
officers of preaching in Churches,even at times to the entire
exclusion of the Ministry.°0 It was common knowledge that Cromwell

43, v Barclay's "Inner Life of the Religious Societies", PP.2755279.
Ch.XII. gives an admirable and concise survey of the whole
ques tion,

44, Cameron Lees’, "St. Giles’ Edinburgh, etec" P.227.

45, Caton's "Journal", (1839) P.45.

46, Sewell's "History", (1811l) Vol.I, P.158.

47, Caton's "Journal",(1839) PP.39,40.

48, "History of Glasgow & Paisley ete", (1795) Vol.I, P.121.

49, cf "Diary of Rev. Ralph Josselin", P.112.

50. cf "Woodstock", Ch.I, PP 17 ff.(Fine Art Scott).
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himself had preached in "Christ's Kirk at the Tron" and in St
Giles'.91

But of all that the Quakers did in Edinburgh and
elsewhere, the thing that scandalised the inhabitants most was what
is known as "going naked as a sign". Nicoll charges them,inter_alia,
with perpetrating this outrage upon public decency circ. 1653
"Sindrie of thame walking throw the streitis all naikit except thair
schirtis, crying 'This is the way, walk ye into it' - utheris crying
out, 'The day of salvatioun is at hand.. for the sword of the ILord is
drawn..." While this phenomenon of early Quakerism was in no sense
peculiar to Scotland, nor its extreme expressions found there, its
rationale may be brlefly stated.®d It was motivated by, and based upon,
a crude and literal interpretation chiefly of Isaiah Walklng naked and
barefoot for three years as a sign at the word of the Lord, though
'also of Micah®® and others in the 01d Testament.?® But there were
degrees of nudity, and partial undress was at least common enough for
many of the Friends concerned to have agreed with Sir. eorge Adamnm
Smith's later interpretation of *"naked" as "unfrocked", or without
the prophet's upper garnent of sackcloth, and for this interpretation
to be urged against them as early as 1653.58 In every degree, however,
those who went naked as a sign did so under the firm conviection that
they were called by God to be the modern successors to the prophets
in an evil and adulterous generation both by utterance and acted
parable, and it must be admitted that they submitted to what they
conceived to be the Divine requirement only under a compelling sense
of duty and with the strongest reluctance and "crucifixion of willrm.
As an acted parable or ''sign", going naked signified at least two !
things, that all who had not come into the"Light" might '"see that they
were naked and not covered with Truth", and that "priests®" might
understand thereby that God would strip them of their pogsr and
benefices till they were as naked as their Protagonistse. The one
thing which mitigated this practice somewhat, as Braithwaite points
out, was, that in this rough age it was customary to punish vagrants,
including travelling "Publishers of Truth"™ of both sexes, by stripping
them naked to the wailst and openly flogging them, 60

51. Butler's "George Fox in Scotland", P.19; Cameron Lees "St Giles’
Edinburgh ete™, Ch. XXIII. P.225.

52. Nicoll's "Diary", P.1l47. '

53. A fuller treatment of the question is found in the appendix to
F.P.T. PP 364-9: Janney's "Hlstory of Friendés", Vol I, P.476:
Blome's "PFanatick History", (1660) (hostile) Book II, Chs I&7V,
and other works.

54. Isa, XX.

5‘50 I‘l’ficah 1080

56, c¢f Exod. XXXII.25: II Sanmuel VI. 20, 1l4.

57."Expositor's Bible_"Isaish” Vol.I, P.199.

58."The Quaeries and Quakers?® ’Cause at the Second Hearing", (1653)
Quaerie XII, P.23.

59. cf F.P.T, P.365.

60."The Beginnlngs of @uakerism", P.149. |
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Williem Caton returned to Edinburgh in 1656,
in company with John Grave of Cumberland. He was in very
indifferent health when he arrived in Scotland to find that €the
favourable tide of the previous year had begun to ebb appreciably,
and "things is Exceedingly out of Order". After William Osborne
left Edinburgh, the Friends were without a meeting place. They
had been counting on the legal help of Anthony Pearson in securing
another, but as he somehow failed to come, the scheme was mis-
managedGI-perhaps worse - by others, and they were all in con-
fusion. It is not improbable that this circumstance had definite
repercussions on the spiritual life and witness of the Society.
For while Caton had "several good meetings" and fared quite well
in open-air gatherings in leith, things generally were far from
healthy, and he wrote to Margaret Fell, his patroness, that
“truly the simplycytié is much scattered & ye great Convincement
much lost, and many harts hardened. And exceeding hard it wil%
be to get any thing brought forth to perfection Amongst them." 2
Many who had been previously convinced now found the Cross an
offence to them, and the preaching of it foolishness. The
gatherings had declined and there were scarcely any fresh convince-
ments except among the English Garrison. "Here hath been severall
unwise builders amongst them, which will tend to the ruine and
destruction of the wggle building, which hath bene dabed with
untempered mortter." And all the time they were among "these
uncircumsised Phillistines who are fitt for ye day of slaughtr,"64
Probably the attitude of the " uncircumcised Philistines" was
hardening also towards Caton and Grave whom they regarded only as
"straggling soldiers®" and impelled the former to write his well
known letter to "the citizens of Edenbrough to take warning while
they have time".6% It is undated "in Olifere's dayes"” but the
internal evidence that it belongs to this time is undeniable. It
is full of the characteristic Quaker denunciations, maledictions,
and telling invective of the early days. "Truth is fallen in the
streets and equity cannot enter. The inhabitants of Edinburgh lives
in pride and fullnesse and gluttony and drunkennesse... devouring
the creation upon their lusts, and yet making a large profession
of their Creator in much hypocrisiem. But the letter concludes
on & more conciliatory and appealing note, and Caton assures them
that although he witnesses against "this c¢ity which lyes in wicked-
nesse™, he is yet " a lover of their soulls"., And with this he
quitted Edinburgh for another three years.

61. "Letter from Caton to Wardell®, (1656) (Swarthmore MSS“I', PP359-6Q

62. Ibid. PP 351-2. No date, except in"Olifere's dayesy but we know
it is 1656 from a reference to Grave.

63. Ibid.
64. Ibid, P.359.

65. Ibid, PP 512-3.
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About the beginning of February 16567, not long
after Caton's departure, John Hall, the first English Quaker
reputed to have visited Aberdeen,came to Edinburgh. 1In a letter
to Margeret Fell, written from Paisley, he relates how a Captain
from Leith with his wife, and a woman friend, "all daubed wth
silver and gold lace" came to a meeting in the Capital, and one
of the women "had A prettie worke upon her spirit". She seems to
have been a Baptist, for the Baptists fell into "great rage™" and
assaulted her "almost night end day excepting when sleepe seeteth
upon her", because she refused to Jjoin in their worship. The
woman may have been the Ceptain's wife, for a senior officer,
Colonel Lidcoate was so angry at what happened "yt he sent to
Lithcow to warne ye souldiers yt they Let not us into ye Castle,"66
Beyond this case of conversion and persecution, we hear nothing
of Hall's activities in Edinburgh.

66."swarthmore MsS.” Vol II, P.287, dated 15-12-1651?-.
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CHAPTER IV.

"IN THE MIDLAND AREA, AND GLASGOW.

In the upper Ward of Lanarkshire, one of the

important places where Quakerism gained an early footing was
Douglas. None of the names of its earliest followers there are
known, nor when precisely they commenced their witness, but it
cannot have been later than about the beginning of 1655,
Probably 1654 is not far wide of the mark, for in that year,
the Eeclesiastical situation in the Parish became such as to
predispose the people to diisent and a more vital religion.

Some time during that year,

The Minister of Douglas, Archibald

Inglis, "a verie good and able youth"™, who apparently received
no stipend, was succeeded by Peter Kid,,whom Principal Baillie
of Glasgow dubbed " a silly young man",” who had never been
previously seen or heard in the bounds. He had a stormy recep-
tion at his orﬁinatiog by the "Protester" section of the
Presbytery of Lanark,“ and English Troopers had to be summoned
"once and againe" to clear the Churehyard of heritors and parish-
ioners who tried to barricade the way to the Church, but the

ma jority of the troops while doing their duty were in manifest
sympathy with the parishioners.

There are no details of Quaker activity in

Douglas extant prior to the coming of William Caton. He visited
Douglas during all his three Scottish tours. In the condition of
things that he thus found on his first visit, Besse's statement
that "he published the Truth without much opposition"? need
occasion no surprise, nor his owr words that lie had "exceeding
good service both in the steeplehouse and elsewheremd, Kid,
however, was instrumental in getting him turned out of his lodgings
and in debarring him from any other, so that he had to go outside
the town to find quarters - but how, we have no knowledge.

In 1656, the year of Caton's second visit, those

"quho are callit quakers" numbered seven according to the return
of the minister of Dogglas to the Presbytery for its information

and necessary action.
ford and elsewhere, there was persecution quickly to ensue.

Despite this,however, the Sect still continued in Douglas, and
though it fell to as low as three in 1669, 1t seems to have so

Here, as in Lesmahagow, Hamilton, glass-

increased in numbers by the beginning of the 18th Century - an
unusual thing - that in 1705, the Presbytery diregted the Magis-

trates of the town to repress their conventicles,

1.
2.
3.

4.
5.

7.
8.

The dates are blank in Scott's "Fasti” , .
"Letters", Vol III, P.247. Bute Jas. Stirlings estimate of him w Woalrows"A"a]uta'wW
Scott's "Fasti® (New Ed.) Vol.III,P.301l. cf the more sensational |
case of Wells at Shotts Kirk in 1762. For Cromwell's favour to
the Protesters, v McCries "Sketches of Scottish Church History",
(1844) PP 370-2.

Besse's "Sufferings?(1753) Vol II, P.495.

Caton's "Journal'(1839) P.40.

v post Ch.V, PP Ho~4l.

v post Ch.V, partim.

v post Book III, Ch V, P.J296.
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Caton returned with John Grave in 1656,and with
the support of "the few friends that were convinced™ held at first
meetings in the Churchyard. They seem to have been well attended
when there was no service proceeding, but when Xid was "at his
devotion; many of them left us", But later, during a catechising
in the Church,Caton was present, and as this was not technically
a"service", he was at first permitted to take an unwelcome part.
Kid seems to have been not altogether adamant when Caton propounded
questions to him, for,"sometimes he said he would answer them,
and sometimes he said he would not", or when Caton rushed in to
the relief of the discomfited, and answered Kid's questions to
them himself. But a limit to the endurance of this disconcerting
Quaker was soon reached, as finally the Minister "broke out into
a very great rage and passion, and caused the people to turn me
out of my lodging, and it is poss&ble he would heve done much more
if he had had power in his hand".

Another town of which there is some mention in
the mid-Commonwealth years is Stirling. There is no evidence of
any settlement of Quakerism there prior to William Caton's two
visits in 1655 and 1656, and it is probable that the inhabitants
had only heard by rumour and hearsay of "that damnable sect"”
called Quakers, but quite sufficiently to hold their sense of
antipathy end animosity in reserve against a first hand acquaint-
ance. Whenever Caton entered "the city", as he always calls.
~it, he was whipped off to the Garrison and thence to the Governor.
But he seems to have mollified the Governor who at first was "high®,
and disarmed his suspicion, for he was not put under any kind of
restraint. He was teken again before the Governor on his second
visit after disturbing the service in the Parish Church,lOand this
time the latter was again "pretty high against us" not without
reason, "and would?gyen~§ave forced us out of the City: howbeit
he was then prevented".l .Stirling received the Quakers and
their message with unfriendliness and curiosity not unmixed with
mistrust, but there was little active opposition to them and no
persecution. The inhabitants rather showed a "dour" passive
resistance and inhospitality, for Caton and Grave could not obtain
any lodging" for our money" in "the city" on the first night of
their arrival until the good offices of some soldiers saved the
situation, "so incensed were the people against us", On another
night the travellers completely failed,and on}g with great diffi-
culty secured shelter in the country outside. Caton records one
meetingtupon a certain green near the "steeplehouse'"(probably the
"King's Gardens" or"King's Park")unto which'a great concourse of
people resorted and a very precious and serviceable meeting we had".
But this does not necessarily mean "convincements", Caton seemed to -
feel, especially at Stirling, that "the Scots were prejudiced against
the English,"” which the English Military Chaplain also probably felt,
for he "was very moderate and kind in his way towardsme",.

9. Caton's "Journal", (1839) P.44.
10.v. ante,Ch.III, P.1J-
ll.Caton's "Journal", (1839) P.45.
12.Ibid.

13,Ibid, Pages 40, 45.
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The first mention of Glasgow in Scots Quakerism
is in 1655. Thither Caton went from Stirling, and there "he had
very good service at that time". He went to "the great Cathedral!
and after the service was over, he enjoyed considerable liberty
to speak to the people in the Churchyard. And though they were
*rude™ or would have been if they could, they were kept in good
check,by the Cromwellian troops "who were pretty moderate towards
me", He followed the same route to Glasgow on his second visit
to Scotland. The populace he found prejudiced and uninterested in
his message who,"could not endure signd doctrine but turned away
their ears from hearing the Pruthn. But the authorities were
unusually clement. Colonel Ashfield, the Governor, undoubtedly
influenced by his wife who afterwards was "convinced" sent for
Caton and interviewed him at his house, and though he was "carried
to the main guard" as a matter of- formality, he was gratified with
the service among the soldiers "who were very civil towards me and
.s.suffered me to depart in peace to my lodging". One Sunday he
visited a certain Church which is unnamed, and after the service
he began to harangue the congregation, but was interrupted by the
beating of the drums and the departure of the soldiers. Probably
it was one of the parade services to which civilians were admitted,
similar to those in St. Giles’ and Edinburgh Tron. There is no
further record of Caton in Glasgow at this time.

14. Ibid. P.40: Sewell's "History", (1811]) Vol. I, P.18l.
15. Caton's "Journal", (1839) P.46.




CHAPTER V.
" TR FIRST OUTBREAK OF PERSECUTION.”

The persecution of the Quakers in Scotland origin- -

ated in the County of lanark during the year 1656 to 1657, end was
of both kinds, c¢ivil and ecclesiastical. Collaberation between
cleric and magistrate was both open and clandestine,l and no dis-
tinction was made between native Friends and "public" Friends from
across the Border. For the prosecution and persecution of the
latter, a very opportune weapon had come into the hands of the
authorities in the "Vagrancy Act" passed by Cromwell's Parliament
in 1656.2 "Vagrancy" was held to apply not merely to dissolute
wanderers and "distressed soldiers™, but to all who were found
outside of their own district or locality and could give no account
of their business or object that was deemed satisfactory to the
judgement or caprice of the civil magistrates.® "Publie" Friends
who, for the time being,had no fixed abode and no'occupation®

excent the unpopular and ‘suspect’ one of propagating their doctrines
so obnoxious to these authorities, fell very easily within the
meaning and scope of the Act. Cruel advantage was taken of it,

and there is evidence that Quakers were punished as vagrants as
early as 1656. And the inpact of this Vegrancy Act was specially
direct upon the Quakers, because, as Firth points out, the proposal
of the Government to seéize "all masterless idle vagabonds..both
men and women" and transport them to colonlse Jamaica had been
abandoned on Broghil's advice as too risky.® The Quakers were
likewise left untouched by the Government's policy of recruiting
soldiers from the "vagabonds" and "vagrants™, for the French and
Swedish services.

The earliest Quaker record of persecution in
Scotland still extant is "A Remembrance or Record of the Sufferings
of some freinds of truth in Scottland", & IS volume commenced
probably ahout 1670.® The entries, however range from 1656 to
1693. The earliest persecution took place in Stratheven in Mid-
summer, 1656, when William Stockdale and John Bowrom "declareing
the Word of the Iord in the streets™, were pelted with mud and
stones by the townspeople and driven out.’” ILater in the same year
Stockdale and John Gill, a Cumberland Quaker, together with several
other Friends from Glassford district were stoned and roughly
expelled "by the rude and crwel multitude" from the Churchyard of
Glassford where they had been holding a meeting.

P

l. v D.P.P.S. (in Fox's "Great Mystery", 1659) P.349.

2. Reaffirmed in 1681 hy the Scottish Council, v"Acts of the
Parliaments of Sectlend) (1820) Vol.VII, P.312, Col.2.

3. Gough's "History", Vol I, PP 2283-4. cf Prefaee to Besse's

"Sufferings",(lVSB) 70l 1, P.VII; and D.P.P.S. PP 333,346,

Gough's "History", Vol I, P.224.

"The Iast Years of the Protectorate™ Vol II, PP 109-110: Thurloe

"State Papers"™, Vol.III, 497; Vol IV, 4l.

. At 207 Bath St. Glasgow. It is usually known as "A Register of

Sufferings”.

n"General Record of Friends in the Westy(MS Vol.l1l6)P.l: MS "Regis-

ter of Sufferings", P.l.

. Ibid.
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~J
.

@



35

As might be expected, Glassford was heavily hit,
and particularly two men in it, John Hart and Andrew Brown. Along
with one John Lackoke, they were cited at the instigation of
William Hamilton, the Minister, before the Justices of Lanarkshire
at Hamilton. Hamilton deponed that they had disturbed him in
Church as he catechised and blessed the people. This charge the
accused denied, asserting that they only required him to "prove
himself in the doctrine of Christ"., Each, however, was fined
twenty shillings sterling, and in default of their payment of this
amount and in security for keeping the peace in future, they were
sent to Hamilton Tolbooth whence they were removedgto Glasgow,
tmprisoned for twenty-two days and excommunicated.

Brown was again summoned by Hamilton in the
autumn of 1657, and appeared at Lanark before William lawrie J.P.
of Blakewood, charged with molesting the Minister in his own
manse at Glassford. _ According to the Quaker version, Brown "came
into his [Hamilton’é] house to deliver a paper unto him, and the
priest thrust him from him and pushed him, and forthwit&othe
priest's servant...thrust him to the door andi beat him.
The sequel was Brown's prosecution, and in his evidence, Hamilton
"declared that he feared his trouble and molestation and required
him to keep the peace.” It is impossible from the scanty data
extant to reach an unbiassed verdict: at all events, Brown was
sentencii to twenty-four deys imprisonment in the Tolbooth of
Lanark.,

In the next two cases,the scene shifts from the

Manse to the Church. About the year 1656, George Wilson and John
Gill, both from Cumberland, asked the Minister a question three
times but he refused to answer. There is nothing to indicate any
interruption of the service, but they were arrested by a constable
named Claude Marshell, who apparently made no attempt to shield
them from "the rude multitud". Wilson was struck to the effusion
of bloig, "and the preist's servant was very active in persecuting
them". The second case was in May 1657, when Richard Esmaid(or
Ismay) an English Quaker, accompanied by George Weir "was declaring
the Word of the Lord to the people. They were ordered by two local

9., Ibid, and "General Record of Friends in the West%(MS Vol.l6)P.1l.
cf D.P.P.S. (1659) PP 334-5. lackoke seems to have left the
Quakers temporarily in 1669. v "Edin.Monthly Meeting Book'(MS Vbl
12.) PP 19,21.

10YMS Reglster of Sufferings",P.2. This was probably the occasion :
when Hamilton is alleged to have told Brown that were he a magis-l
trate)and were it legal, he would behead all Quekers ! (cf D.P P.L

. P.333

11vMS Register of Sufferings", P.3. cf "General Record: of Friends in
the West", (MS Vol.l6.) P.3.

l2."MS Register of Sufferings",P.ly and "General Record of Friends
in the West", (MS Vol 16. P.l )
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J.Pfs, Hamilton of Raploch and Lawrie, tutor of Blackwood to be
incarcerated in Glassford Castle. Mgrshell, the constable,

thrust Esmaid into the stocks apparently on his own responsibility,
and subsequently both prisggers were transferred to Hamilton Tol-
booth for twenty-two days.

In 1657 also, John Hart was again in Court slong
with a widow, Janet Hamilton of Westermains. They were accused
before the Justices at Lanark by the Minister of Glassford, of
entertaining Quakers in their own houses, especially George Wilson,
and so of "resetting" law breakers. As they refused to pay their
fine of twenty shillings, they were imprisoned for eight days.14
But Glassford, the cradle of the Quaker movement in Scotland, stood
the shock of the first persecutions well. The Sect continued
intermittently up to 1669, the number and vitality in the parish
and district increasing. Alexander Parker in a letter from Leith
to George Fox, written late in 1657, during the latter's visit to
Scotland, says, "I passed on to heads [Heads .. There is a fine
sober growing people that keepes together constantly. I was re-
freshed amongst them to see ye workmanshipp of God appeaigng and
ye true light shineing and breaking forth amongst them™. The
Quaker meeting at Glassford grew rapidly to be the largest in
Scotland. The statistical returns of 1669 showed there were twenty
one male members at Glassford as comparedlgith eight at Edinburgh,
six at Badcow, and only three at Douglas.

The immediate occasion of the persecution at
Douglas in 1656 was the celebration of the first Quiger merriage in
Scotland, at which William Stockdele was & witness. The contract-
ing parties, Williem Mitchell of Douglas and Mary Inglishe (or Ingli§
having teken each other as man and wife before witnesses m"accord-
ing to the form and manner of the Saints recorded in the Scripturesn,
were indicted before the Justices at Hamiltorn at the instigation of
Peter Kid, Minister of Douglas. The unfortunate bridegroom was fineé
twenty shillings for his " transgression®, with the alternative of
twenty stripes on his bare body at the Mercaet Cross on market day:
further, that he be prohibited from "cohabiting" any longer with
"that women". As Mitchell, very naturally, refused to yield, he
was put in the stocks in the Market Place for four hours and sub-
sequently handed over to the town bailiffs who shut him up in the
Tolbooth. About a month afterwards, a bright idea seems to have

13. "General Record of Friends in the West"%(MS.Vol.16.P.3) :MS
"Register of Sufferings", P.2: D.P.P.S{P.350.

14. "General Record of Friends in the West%(MS Vol.1l6.P.3):"MS
Register of Sufferings",P.2: D.P.P.S. P.334.

15. "Swarthmore MsSsS§ Vol.III, P. 4l.

16. "Edin. Quarterly Meeting Book", 1669. (MS.Vol.l5) P.13.

17. "General Record of Friends in the West", (MS Vol.16. P.l.)
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struck Francis Aird, Minister of DalserfiBor getting Mitchell
handed over to a recruiting Captain for the French Wars. This was
effected through an order issued by Gavin Hamilton of Raploch and
delivered to the Captain, who removed Mitchell from Heamilton
Tolbooth to the Canongate Tolbooth Edinburgh, till he was ready

to go overseas, But Justice came to her own, for thigbridegroom
was released after a time by order of General Monck.

In 1657, Mitchell was thrown into the Lanark
Tolbooth for eight days on no specified charge?o Gollon, the
Bailiff of Lanark, took away Mitchell's "Bonnet" by order of
Jack, the Minister_ of Carluke, and then drove the Friends from
the town at night?l

About three years later, in 1659, other maerriage
cases are recorded, when a certain Quaker, Gavin Stevenson, was
imprisoned at Hamilton for about three months, as also was John
Hutcheson, for ten weeks.<2

It is not altogether surprising that the author-
ities contemplated some early legislative gqction, and although the
two most important relevant measures coeme chronologically in the
Restoration periocd, it will be convenient to note them at this
point. 1In 1661, the same year as the "Quaker Act" was passed,
the "Act against Clandestine and Unlawful Marriages™ came into
force, and although it was intended also for Romen Catho%écs and
others, it affected the Quakers very materially. The Act“Ystipu-
lated that only marriages which are performed, according to the
lawdable order & -- constitution of this Kirk" were legal, and
that all persons who were afterward married from whatsoever motive
or pretext in a clandestine or irregulsr manner, whether "by
Jesuits, Priests, deposed or suspended Ministers, or any others
not authorised by this Kirk" were liable to a flat penalty of
three months imprisonment in addition to greduated fines ranging
from £1000. Scots for a nobleman to 1CO Marks for anyone below
the rank of burgess: the income from these fines "to be applyed
to pious vses" within the delinquents* parishes: the celebrant
of such marriages to be banished for life, and those too poor to
pay even 100 marks, to be punishable by stocks and irons. In
addition to these monetary and corporal penalties, all delinquents
were to be subject to the censures of the Church. Under this Act
the Privy Council arraigned David Felcbner in 1667 "for marying

18. cf Scott's "Fasti’, (New Ed.)Vol.III, P.246.

19. "General Record of Friends in the West"(MS Vol.16.,) P.2. and
"MS Register of Sufferings" P.4.

20. Ibid.

21. Broadside "To you the Parlisment sitting at Westminster%1659)

22. "General Record of Friends in the Westt(MS Vol.16) PP 5,6,

23. "Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland", Vol.VII, P.231, Col.I.
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certan persons of his oune sect".'?‘4 The Act of 1661 was ratified
and made more stringent still by the "Act agsinst Unlawful-
Ordinations" passed in 1672, which imposed upon all who were
married by an unauthorised person the additional penalty of losing
"any right or interegg they may have by that marriage "jure Mariti
vel Jure Relictae". And agein the Act of 1661 was ratified and
confirmed in the reign of William IIIszy the "Act against Irreg-
ular Baptisms and Marriages®" of 1695.

In East Kilbride, there were two men who suffered
for conscience' sake. One was a Westmorland Friend, Richard
Pinder, who addressed the assembled congregation, apparently
before the service, for there was "no priest with them". He was
immediately arrested and haled before the Justice, James Stewart
tutor of Castletown, who sent him to gaol in Rutherglen. After
three days imprisonment he was "brought foorth" and on the follow-
ing Sunday he was exhibited to the people in the stocks at the
Church for five hours: after which, by Stewart's order, he was
bandied about from constable to consteble till they finally got
him gsross the Border into England. The othgg vietim, Thomas
Jack®’was, at the instigation of John Burnet<“Minister of East
Kilbride, apprehsnded and committed to prison in Glasgow in
September 1657.2 According to Wodrow, Burnet "had been singularly
useful in that parish where there were a great many Quakers and
Separatists: and yet by his painful and excellent preachings and
other labours, he reclaimed most part of them".

In lLesmashagow, John Hart, Andrew Brown, and Geo.
Weir, were in the arena when they visited the Church in March
1657. Probably at the conclusion of the service, Weir began to
read a paper "containing soeme reasons why he denyed the preists"1
but he did not get far as John Hume, the Minister of the parish3

24, R.P.C.S. 3rd.series, Vol II, P.376.

25, "Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland”, Vol. VIII, P.7l. Col.II.
(Robert Barclay's marriage in 1670, which so angered the Clergy
took place between these two Acts, and probably influenced the
second in 1672.)

26. Ibid Vol IX, P.387,Cols. 1l,2. A brief but excellent resume of
Quaker teaching and procedure regarding marriage is found in
Penn's "Select Works", Vol,V PP 223-5,

27. "MS Register of Sufferings", P.3: c¢f "General Record of Friends
in the West}(MS Vol.l6. P.2)

28, cf Scott's "Fasti”, (New Ed.) Vol III, PP267-8.

29. %road?ide "To you the Parliament sitting at Westminster".

1659

30. "History of the Sufferings",Vol II, P.227 : Ure's "History of
Rutherglen and East Kilbriden, P.208.

31l. Hume was later Rector of the High School of Edinburgh, (v
Scott's "Fasti”)(New Ed.) Vol III, PP 313-4.
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ordered the people "to knock down that excommunicat stranger, where-
upon the people did beat them and put them out of the synagogue'™.92
Yeir was savagely used, and outside, the Quakers were "dirtted" with
water, stones and lime without any interference by the Minister, his
own famlly even taking part. 33

Returning to Hamilton, we again find Richard
Esmaid. He was holding a meeting on the Green, when James Nailsmith
Minister of the First Charged4 passed on his way from Church. It
nust be admitted that on this occasion Esmaid was needlessly
aggressive, for he summoned Iaismith to "prove™ his call to the
Christian liinistry and prove the Quaker a deceiver, which if he
failed to do, he was "no Minister of Christ but of the devil". Esmaid
was immediately arrested by one of the town bailiffs, a namesake of
the Minister, and flung into the Tolbooth,55 apparently without trial.
After three weeks, he "was freed of ye bonds at Humleton where..
through much suffering he reignes & made ye truth of good reportw,36
and conveyed to Glasgow where he was sentenced to two hours in the
stocks at the Market Place on two Market days. He had to spend the
week intervening in prison. A paper was pinned on his breast on each
occasion in the market, but he was gagged only on the first, be%ng
free to speak to the people from the stocks on the second day.
Thereafter he was expelled from Glasgow with threatenings, but he
returned, and there is reason to believe that this "good soldier®
made some converts there. Others unnamed, were shamefully abused in
the town of Légklntllloch the people belng instigated by the Minister,
Henry Forsyth“; to stone the guakers as a work of apostolic merit.
In 1659, Hart, Brown, Stevenson and Hamilton, with five other male
and female ﬁrlends, were imprisoned in Hamilton for twenty-three
weeks.

Thus far we have been dealing with individual
indictments of Friends for the most part, but there are three well
authenticated instances of persecution by ecclesiastical bodies
which call for mention.

32, "General Record of Friends in the West", (1S Vol 16) P.2: D.P.P.S.
P.348,

33. Ibid, P.329.

34. cf SCott s Fastim™ (New Ed.) Vol.III, P.259. Naismith was later
indulged at Glassford.

35. ™IS Register of Sufferings", P.3: "General Record of Friends in
the West", (MS Vol 16.) P.3.

36. "Swarthmore MS3" Vol ITI, P.231l. (Letter from Robertson to Fox
1657,)

37. "General Record of Friends in the West", (MS Vol 16.) P.3.

38. Scott's "Fastin", (New Ed.) Vol.III. P.482.

39. D.P.P.S. P.329,

40. "MS Register of Sufferingsg P.3.
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(1) In July 1656, Alexander Hamilton and John Hart, were summoned
by the Presbytery of Hamilton, to answer to a list of accusations.
They appear to have been threatened with "Clubb Law"by Naismith of
Hamilton, and at his instigation ind others', Hamilton and Hart
were put in gaol by the Bailirf.? Thirty-two Quakers were
excommunicated by Mackail of Bothwell and the other members of
Presbytery "for saying that the Priests that Egeach up sin for
term of life be Ministers of the man of Sin",

(2) It seems that prior to 1657, within the bounds of the Synod

of Glasgow and Ayr, excommunications and other manifestos had
been published with little effect "among the common people™, for
at a meeting of the Synod in May 1657, the Quakers were excommuni-
cated as a body, it being enacted that "throwghout the Westland
presbiteries belonging to that synod it should be procleamed in
their steeplhouses by the priests th%t none of their hearers or
societie should either bwy or sell w' any of thes persones called
qwakers nor give them any intertaimment in meet, grinke or lodging
under the hazard of incurring their displeasure"? The Ministers,
armed with this ecclesiastical weapon, used it so arbitrarily and
callously, that one of the Justices of the Peace, Colonel Ashfield
interposed, and put a stop to the tyranny. He iiter became a
Quaker himself and held a meeting at his house.

(3) In October 1656, some members of the Presbytery of lLanark
raised the matter of "certaine erroneous persons.. callid quekers"
spreading error and forsaking the doctrine and discipline of the
Church, and the Presbytery instructed the Ministers so affected

to submit a list of the Quakers to the Court. - T

On the 6th November, Peter Kid, Minister of
Douglas and John Hume, Minister of Lesmahagow, laid on the table
of the Presbytery the lists of their parishioners "quho are
called Quakers™, the former returning seven, and the latter six.
Presumably they were all summoned, but the only one who "compeired”
was from Douglas, viz., Mitchell the bridegroom, who repudiated
the Confession of Faith and "did sclander the ministrie of the
Church", so that the Presbytery ordered the two Ministers to draw
up a charge sheet against_all the Friends which they shoulg answer
the next Presbytery day.45 Accordingly on 22nd January 165°/7,
although the Quakers "did no compeir™, Smith and Browne, the wit-
nesses for Douglas ‘Parish deponed on oath that Mitchell denied
water Baptism and Church marriages as marks of the beast, gainsaid

41, "MS Register of Sufferings” P.l: "General Record of Friends in
the West"(MS Vol.16,) P.l. ef D,P.P.S. P.333,

42, Broadside "To You the Parliament sitting at Westminstern(1659)

43, Unfortunately no minute of this Synod meeting is known to be
extant. The earliest minutes of Synod are 1687. Torrance in
his Art. on "The Quakers in Clydesdale" ('Glasgow Herald'
14-2-1925) is in error in meking the well known story of Alex-
ander Hamilton and Charteris of East Kilbride a sequel to the
Synod's excommunication, for Charteris was dead by June 1656.
v Scott's "FastP"(New Ed.) Vol III,P.267 and Baillie's "Letters”
Vol III, P.323.) / 44, Fox's "Journal®, (Camb.Ed.) Vol I, P 303:
D.P.P.S. P.334. cf Thurloe "State Papers"Vol Vlﬁ P.136(Monck's

e

%etter to Cromwell. 45,."Selections frdém the Registers of the |
resbytery of Lanark", P.1l0Ol.
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the Fall of Man or any limitation of Divine Grace, and alleged that
the preaching of the Gospel in Scotland by the Ministers was Anti-
Christian. All the Quakers alike had. been guilty of apostasy

from the Church and were frequenting "the companie and fellowship
of the Inglish Quakers",

Although Kid had publicly cited his erring
parishioners to appear at the Bar of the next Presbytery meeting
on 4th March, neither they nor those of Hume's flock did so. But
Mathie and Twethell, the Lesmahagow witnesses, gave evidence on
oath and charged all six Friends with saying that "the presbiteriall
kirk is not a &hurch of Jesus Christ:" that "throwing of water one
children is not lawfull", and that "they gett as much good of"
Quaker meetings "as of any bodie else", and therefore have deserted
the Church,46

At length the Presbytery's patience was exhausted
and on 30th April 1657, the day decided upon for pronouncing
sentence of excommunication, the Presbytery kept a "solemne day
of humiliatioun™., The Ministers present were Peter Kid, William
Somervell of Pettinain$’Robert Birnie48 of Lanark and Thomas
Kirkaldie, brother of Kirkaldie of Grange, and Minister of
Carnwath.49 After Peter Kid preached, William Somervell solemnly
excommunicated William Mitchell, Robert Tod, Mary Inglis (the
bride of Mitchell)and Elspeth Cappie in Douglas parish: and
Catherine Hamilton and hersgamily, - Catherine, Janet and George
Weir in Lesmahagow parish. The severity of the Presbytery's
action seemed to have caused some Quaker adherents or sympathisers
in Lesmahagow to conform temporarily and receive Baptism, but it
failed to crush the New Light in the parish,

Twice within the next decade, the Archbishop of
Glasgow wrote to the Presbytery of Lanark requiring all Quakers
within its bounds to be duly listed on any and every competent,
charge with a view to their excommunication.®l As late as 1702,
one John Brown in Raw, who had recantedhis Quaker faith in 1657
renewed 1t, was summoned before the Session and thence was duly
excommunicgﬁed and "delivered over to Satan" by the Presbhytery
of Lanark.

46. Ibid,PP101-2. cf (reenshields"Annals of Lesmahagow(1864)
PP 159-160. .
47, Scott's "Fasti", [New Ed.) Vol IIT, P.319. ,
48, Ibid, P. 307, —
49, Tbid,P. 289,
50., "Selections from the Registers of the Presbytery of Lanarkq
P. 103.
51. Ibid, PP 105, 109.
52. Ibid, PP 135, 137.
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The sequel to these excommunications was a Protest

and Appeal addressed by the persecuted Scots Quakers to "The
Parliament sitting at Westminster" in 1659. The preamble accused
the Ministers in addition to excommunicating them, of instigating
their landlords to expel them, both of which were calculated to
ruin them as honest and inoffensive crofters, artisans or trades-
men. The sympathies of the people were with them, they said, and
the people wished to continue trading with them dbut dared not do
so through "slavish fear of their Landlords and these men called
Ministers®",., If the Parliament left the Friends to the mercies of
these "rulers", it were serious injustice indeed which God& would
witness against.

Then followsa large representation of the names
of the sufferers and deggils of their persecutions, most of which
have been noted above.

53. v Broadside "To You the Parliament sitting at Westminster®”, (1659)
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CHAPTER VI.

" FROM CORNER TO CORNER OF SCOTLAND.

The purpose of this Chapter is to collate as far as
possible a few scattered but important facts and references
which are somewhat isolated from the main line of the present
history. : ‘

The Quaker influence first touched the Orkney Islands
when John Bowrom the first English visitor to Edinburgh "took
another journey to Scotland in 1656 at the age of 29, -and
arrived in Pomona. There is no record of how long he stayed or
of what he did or endured, but only that "at Kirkwall he took
shipping for Barbadoes". He was probably in controversy how-
ever with James Morrison® Minister of Evie and Rendall over the
doctrine of the indwelling of Christ.®

The great "Aberdeen'" period of Quakerism which was
inaugurated by William Dewsbury during his second visit and
which centres round the Jaffrays and the Barclays, dees not come
till after the Restoration, but the"Inner Light"first reached
Aberdeen in 1657/8. Early in the Spring of the year, a York-
shire Quaker, John Hall, arrived in the City, and found very
quickly a kindred spirit in Cornet Ward, the English Officer of
the Roundhead Garrison at Aberdeen, to whom he bore an introduc-
tion from Captain Freeman of Fairfax's Regiment®., Ward, while
perhaps not a "convinced" Queker when Hall came to the City, had
unmistakable sympathies with Quaker principles and teaching,and
was prepared to sacrifice his position and reputation for them if
need be. He gave Hall lodging at his own Quarters and stood by
him.

Hall paid two visits to Aberdeen with a short period
in Inverness between them. During the first visit two charges
were brought against him. (1) On Sunday 15th March in the Church
of St. Machar, he "did publickly in audience of all the people
contradict the Minister, and called him a deceiver of the people™
because the latter would not submit to the Quaker doectrine of
perfectionism. Apparently the Minister d4id not hear Hall out,for
the Quaker in a letter to Margaret Fell, wrote that he "spoake |
to ye priest after hee had done, but hee would not stay but fledm?
(2) Og that same occasion when "ye people and colledgeners were
mett"y Hall referred to the members of the University as "a cage
of unclean birgs" an unsavoury metaphor not unknown among the

early Quakers.’ More fuel still was heaped on the fire when Cornet

l. "Piety Promoted", Vol. I. P.233. Note the curious error of
"Birkwall" for Kirkwall.

2. Scott's "Fasté®, [New Ed.) Vol.VII. P.215.

3., Fox's "Great Mystery", (1659) P.262.Is "GW" George Watkinson or
George Weir ?

4. Thurloe "State Papers", Vol.VI, P.162.(Letter from Major Richard-
son to Thurloe, 2nd April 1657) :

S. "Swarthmore MSS", Vol.II, P.283.(Letter dated 1655 should really
be dated éirc.March 1657, 6. Ibid,PP 283, 285.

7¢fFox's "Journal", (Camb.Ed.) Vol.II, P.480.
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Ward threatened an English stranger names William Proctor with
the Guard House for arguing with Hall. The sequel to these
incidents brought out Ward's true sympathies when he was waited
upon the next day as the responsible military éfficer by John
Seaton, Minister of St. Machar, and Alexander Gordon, represent-
ing the students, who appealed to him "to teke notice of and
redress the wrong done", Ward retorted bluntly that he had
nothing to do with Haell in any ipiilitary capacity whatever and
that far from being willing to punish Hall with whom he agreed,
or any of his own soldiers who were likewise "moved of ye LordY}
he repudiated the use of "any carnal sword", and was even ready
"for that thing to lay down his tabernacle of clay".TheCornet was
also alleged to have expressly agreed with Hall that all the
Ministers of the Gospel without exception "were upholders of the
kingdom of Satan and of darkness" because they denied perfect-
ionism.® At length, findin§ Ward quite intractable, John Rowe
Principal of King's College!® Gordon the undergraduate, and John
Seaton wrote a conjoint letter from King's to Major Richardsom
setting forth the main facts and entreating "your honor to take
notice of those miscarriages very unusual here...anilredress the
wrong which shall be made out by several witnesses. Before
Richardson could do anything however, Hall had left for Inverness,
but the Governor took so serious a view of the Aberdeen incidents
that he forwarded the Aberdonians' complaint and appeal to General
Monck with a covering letter of his own, and warned Lieutenant-
Colonel Mann at Inverness to prevent Hall meking "anii disturbance
there which may be of bad consequence att this tyme", 2

An inkling of Hall's intention to return to
Aberdeen from Inverness must have leaked out, for the three
signatories of the above letter informed Major Richardson so.
In addition, when the "Priest, Collegians, and Principles™ came and
"raged against" Cornet Ward after Hall's departure, he said to-
them in taunt "He was long enough here but he may be coming back
soon. You can speak to him yourselves". The authorities had
therefore good time to prepare for action, and Governor Richard-
son lost no time after Hall's return in sending a guard of mmsket-
eers to bring him from Ward's lodging to the Tolbooth, where a
Court Martial was held. Both Hall and,Cornet were cross-examined
after they had both refused to take off their hats. Hall would
not state his purpose in coming to Aberdeen, and so "not giveing
account of anye emplilement, it is evident his busines. is to
gather prosselites". The two charges arising oub of his first

8. "Swarthmore NSS," Vol.II. P.283.

9. Thurloe"State Papers", Vol.VI, P.1l46.

10.A notable scholar and Hebralst (v Rait's "The Universities of
Aberdeen’(1895) Ch. XIII, PP 158 ff; and Bulloch's "History of
the University of Aberdeen®, (1895) PP.123-8,

11.Thurloe "State Papers", Vol.VI, PP 145, 146.

12.Ibid, P.145.(For Hall's visit to Inverness)v infra P.46.

13.Ibid,P.146.

l4.Ibid,P.162. Letter from Major Richardson April 2.1657.
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visit were preferred against him: also that he was a vagabond,
Jesult and spy, but his accusers who were also his judges could
not reach any agreement. They removed Hall from Court for a
space, which gave him an opportunity to preach to the soldiers
and others in the ante-room, and when he was recalled,it was only
to be sentenced to be turggd out of the town and threatened with
penelties if he returned. Although Cornet Ward was now definitely
a Quaker, he was not dealt with in any disciplinary fashion by
this Court Martial, but he was reported direct by Governor Richard-
son to the Secretafg of State as one of "such men" who were “danger-
ous in the armie". Hall was escorted two miles out of the town
by Cornet Ward, the Marshall and three rankers, and although he
thought at first of returning to Aberdeen " and further as I am
ordered", it was reported to Monck by April 29th. that "thelguaker
Hall is now for certayne gone southward... for altogether."

About the late autumn of lesslscame the second
"public“Friend to Aberdeen, William Dewsbury of Cumberland, one of
the early converts of Fox, and among the most notable of his
preachers, He had joined forces at Leith at the end of September
with ex-Captain George Watkinson, who had been caigiered from the
Army shortly before. They travelled to Inverness~ via Dundee and
Aberdeen, and both on their outward and returned journey they were
entertained in Aberdeen by a merchant and his wife whom they left
"very tender" and "pretty well satisfied"g0 But, "no open espousal
of the tenets peculiar to the people called Quakers took place
"till-Pewsbury's next and famous visit to Aberdeen at the end of
l662.  Between 1658 and 1662, however a "remarkable work of
convincement”had been secretly going on _in some of their hearts...
"through many deep conflicts of spirit"gl and this preparation was
further advanced by the visit of John Burnyeat of Cumberland sbout
the beginning of November 1658 during his three months’ tour in
Scotland.22 John Barclay nowhere speeks of Burnyeat's visit bgéng
the earliest Quaker visit to Aberdeen, as Braithwaite asserts,
though Barclay does state that Burnyeat was the first to mention
Aberdeen in the account he has left of his visit to Scotland.®%

15, "Swarthmore MSS", Vol II, P.285.
16, Thurloe "State Papers®, Vol VI, P.l62.
17, Ibidg P.241,.(Letter from Major-General Morgan to Monck,29th Apr.

1657%.

18, cf Letter to Margaret Fell from Leith. ("Swarthmore MSS", Vol.I,
P. 736,

19. Accordé%g to Braithwaite -"The Beginnings of Quakerism", Ch.XIV,

P.364.
20. "Swarthmore MsSS" Vol IV, P. 392.Cietter from Watkinson to Fox

from Leith.)
21, Jaffray's "Diary", (3rd. Ed.) P.197. cf Smith's "Life off DewsburyM
22, Burnyeat's "Journal", (1839) P.178.
23. Braithwaite's "Beginnings of Quakerism", Ch. X, P.228 n. It is
Braithwaite who is wrong.
24. Jaffray's "Diary", (3rd.Ed.) P.195, and Burnyeat's "Journal"

(1839) P.178. y
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The earliest Quakers in Inverness seem to have
been one or two Cromwellian troopers of the detachment stationed
there, but it was only when Hall reached "the Queen of the High-
lands" that they came into the open and were "moved to goe to ye
Steeplehouse"with Hall. One went to the Baptist$? place of workhip
also, and announced a meeting the same afternoon at the Barracks,
which proved to be "A verie prettie meeting."25 Lieutenant-Colonel
Mann was not unprepared for the Quaker advent as has already been
noted, and this gave the military Governor, Colonel Daniell, his
opportunity. Daniell was still further impelled to prompt action
by the activity,simultaneous with Hall's,of Captain-Lieut.Daven-
port. Davenport, of whom we shall hear further, was a zealous
Quaker, even while he remained in the army, and his case was one of
the crucial issues which determined Monck to clear Quakers out of
the army. Captain Davenport did for Hall in Inverness very much
what Cornet Ward did for him in Aberdeen. This officer went to the
main guard at the Castle, and invited the troops "to goe here =a
vagabond fellow of their secte"26(Hall). When the Governor sum-
moned Hall before him, Davenport went voluntarily along with him,
and when the Governor had brusquely set aside Hall's explanation
of his mission and commanded him to leave Inverness within twenty-
four hours, Davenport left the Court with Hall.27 Like Fox in
Edinburgh, however, Hall remained in defiance of the authorities,
and, aided and abetted no doubt by his host, the Quaker Captain,
held another meeting which was "peaceable®™. But Daniell was reso-
lute., He threw Hall into prison for the night, and next morning
ordered the Marshal to escot him two miles beyond the town, 28
The only other visit to Inverness in the early period of which we
have any record was that of Dewsbury and Watkinson, already .noted.
No details of their mission are extant, but they were well re-
ceived, and "Dewsbury's ministry as always made a deep flmpre.'ssf‘on'."?'9

Ayrshire would have been a seVereﬁest of Dewsbury's
powers, had he ever visited it, for it presented an unusually in-
hospitable soil for ngserism. If Scotland as a whole was "a dark
and barbarous country"“Yto the new Light, Ayrshire and Galloway were
the most "difficult™ of all. What records there are in the early
period are meagre and significant in their restraint and silences.
The earliest Quaker known to visit Ayrshire wagWilliam Caton during
his second Scottish tour in 1656, after parting with Stubbs. He
speaks of the town of Ayr as a "noted place™, but when "it was upon
me to go to the steeplehouse there™ he seems to have had"pretty good
liberty", but only through the presence of many soldiers, among whom

25. "Swarthmore MSS"Vol II. P.283. (Letter from Hall to Margaret
Fell, circ. Apr. 1657.)

26. Thurloe "State Papers", Wol.VI.(Letter from Daniell to Monck
from Perth.3rd. Apr. 1657)P/63.

27, "Swarthmore MSS", Vol II, PP 283-4.

28. Ibid, P.284.

29, Braithwaite, "The Beginnings of Quakerism",6 (1912) P.364.,

30. Caton’s "Journal",(lBBQ) P.486,
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he received civil treatment.Sl It is quite possible that there may
have been some Quakers or incipient Quakers in Monck's garrison

at Ayr before Caton came, but of this we have no authentication.
In 1657/8, Thomas Robertson visited Kilmarnock, Irvine and Ayr

at the time Fox left Scotland, and "weighed ye service of ye Lord
& did not returne till it lay upon me from Him"32,

In 1658, John Burnyeat travelled from Hamilton
through Kyle to Ayr, and through Cerrick into Wigtownshire as
far as Portpatrick, returning through Ayrshire by the same route.
No results are claimed. He merely records that "our service was
at their steeplehouses and markets and other places wliere we met
withsgeople; and sometimes at Friends meetings where there were
anynvy

Two cases of persecution in Ayrshire at this time
are recorded, one at Kilmaurs, the other at Newmilns. A band of
Lanarkshire Friends comprising Hamilton, Brown and Hart, along
with William Stockdale and George Wilson had come to Kilmaurs
early in 1657, and,"wkere by virtue of ane order from William More
of Rowallan54(called a justice of peace) apprehended as vagabonds".
They were imprisoned at Kilmarnock and passed from constable to
constable till after examinagéon and threatening by Campbell of
Cesnock, they were dismissed““, In the second case at Newmilns,
two months later, Hart and Wilson again figured, this time along
with Christopher Fell. When they went to an inn for lodging about
10.p.m. they were not only refused it, but dragged out of doors
and stoned out of the town into the open fields 6, This was in
obedience to the Synod of Glasgow's decree of excommunication
whereby none of "this persones called quakers"® sgould receive
"any intertainment in meet, drinke or lodging."3

The two mein reasons why Quakerism utterly failed
in Ayrshire are not far to seek. The first was the saintly per-
sonality and earnest preaching of William Guthrie of Fenwick,
which latter, thanks to the protection and favour chiefly of the
Earls of Glencairn and Eglingtoun, he was able to continue till

3l. "Journal". (1839) P.48. .

32, "Swarthmore MSS" Vol III, P. 23l.(Letter from Robertson to Fox,
dated 1657)

33. Burnyeat's "Journal". (1839) PP178-9. The last clause about
Friends’ meetings does not necessarily signify any in Ayrshire.

34, Sir Wm, Mure of Rowallan, a close friend of Wm.,Guthrie of Fenwik,

35. "General Record of Friends in the West}(MS Vol 16.) P.2; "MS
Register of Sufferings", P.2.

36. Ibid., and D.P.P.S. P.334.

37. v ante Ch., V, P.40. The Minister of Newmilns at that time was
John Nevay, (v Scott’s "Fast¢", New Ed.Vol III, P.119; and
Thomson's "Martyr Graves of SCotland",Ch.VII, PP 127-8)
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1664, Fenwick Parish had been detached from Kilmarnock only
about' three years prior to Gutggie's settlement in 1644, and it
was in a deplorable condition. "Lyirg, false swearing, and a
host of grossly worse immoralities occupied nearly the whole time
of the kirk session meetings."39 Guthrie slowly but steadily
turned the wilderness into a garden of the Lord, and the fragrance
of Fenwick was felt far beyond its borders. His name became a
household word throughout the West of Scotland, and regular atten-
ders at Fenwick Church came from Glasgow, Paisley, Lanark, Ham-
ilton, and beyond. So great was his popularity that one day a
pamphlet purporting to be Guthrie's and entitled "A clear attrac-
tive warming Beam of Light from Christ, the Sun of Light, leading
unto Himself etc™ was published in Aberdeen by a misguided devotéee.
The pamphlet which appeared without his knowledge and authorisation
was repudiated by Guthrie, and to counter any effect it might have
he published "The Christian's Great Interest” in 1658.40 Even
after Guthrie's death, this reprehensible practice continued with-
out the least consultation of his nearest relativesor ministerial
brethren, so that "Agnes Campbell Relict of the deceast lMaster Wm.
Guthrie™ had to issue a genereal appeal to the Christian reader to
"be so farr tender of the truth" (a phrase with a distinct Quaker
flavour) as,” to have these lately printed under his name in
suspition”. 41

The motive or motives underlying this unauthorised
publication do not conecern us, but the whole matter including
Guthriet's famous antidote shows that the influence of his preaching
was so widespread and satisfying that it was the paramount religious
force in the West,and left a poor chance to any competitor. The i
Quakers did attempt once to proselytise in Fenwick Parish during i
Guthrie's absence on business in Angus, but he returned before any |
conversions had taken place, and according to Dunlop "so confounded |
those heretics that they despaired of ever attacking with success
a flock guarded by so watchful and skilful a shepherd”.4? In reality '
Guthrie was already preaching that living relation between men and
Christ the Light of Life, which was the very heart of the Quaker's
nessage.4® TEven the title of the unauthorised pamphlet bears this

38, cf "Select Biographies'(1847) Vol II, P.36.(Memoirs of Guthrie)

39, "Extracts from Fenwick Farish Records 1644-16997(Art.by A.C.
Jonas in "Proceedings of the 3Society of Antiquarians of Scot-
land" 4th series, Iol X, P. 3C.} Fenwick, however, was probably
no worse than the country as a whole. cf Guthrie in "Sermons in
Timesof Persecution®, PP 145-6. :

40 ,vThomson's "The Martyr Graves of Scotland", Ch.VI, PP1l05-6.and et
"Select Biographies™, (Dunlop's "Guthrle") PP 55-54. o

41, Ibid. P.54. and "Analecta Scotica™, (1834) Vol I, PP 242-3.
No. LXXVII ("Advertisement be Agnes Campbell etct)

42, "Select Biographies™. (Vol II, P.43)(Dunlop's"Guthriem).cf _
Sinclair's (014) "Statistical Account of Scotland",Vol XIV,P.57,

which probably refers to the same.
43, v A remarkable passage in his sermon on Acts XXVI. 28-30. preached

Dec,30th 1655, which would go far to satisfy a Quaker.(v Smellie’s
Edltlon of "The Christian's Great Interest™ PP 210-211 ) !
/
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out. The Quaker nmystics and Guthrie had much spiritual vision
and experience in common, and many passages of the "Christian's
Great Interest",which 124anything but Calvinistic,might have

come from a Quaker pen, The truth is that all who came within
reach of Guthrie's voice or message, already had in effect this
part of the Quaker oracle within the Church, and from a settled
pastor. Consequently, they felt no need to look for it elsewhers.

In addition, Guthrie was an exceptional persona
grata with the Quakers, especially Keith, owing to his low estim-
ate of the contemporary Scottish Ministry generally. As a post-
cript to his "Truth's Defence", George Keith republished with
approbation a portion of one of Guthrie's writings in which the
latter takes his brethren to task and castigates them in love for
the sins of the Ministry so prevalent among them.

The second reason why Quakerism never took any
root in Ayrshire can be quickly dismissed. Nowhere did the
Covenanting Cause grip the whole soul and life of the people more
sacrificially. Neither the people nor their persecutors after
the Restoration had any time for the Quakers. They were too bent
on their own religious conflict. "Friends are suffered to be
quiet, bug in some places they are very busje with some other
people".4 The Quakers were neither listened tohor persecuted;
they were simply ignored, and the absence of persecution after
the XKilmaurs and Newmilns incidentsdid not swell their number.

Galloway was likewise stony ground to the Quakers,
partly because of a corresponding influence to Guthrie's in Ayr-
shire, which still survived, viz., Samuel Rutherford. Halhead and
Lancaster were probably the first Quakers to_traverse Galloway in
1654 on their way from Ireland to Dumfries.4? Thomas Robertson, the
next Quaker to visit Galloway in 1657 found it "all in the enmity;
none there in love to the Truth could receive me"., He carried on
however, some colportage and pamphleteering, and although "a quer
was raised up in some", little fruit seems to have been gathered.%8
The next to arrive in Galloway was John Burnyeat some months later,
who as already noted reached Portpatrick. ‘

44, e.g. (All in Smellie's E4.1901) P.1l0, "My Soul etc"; PP 71-2.8§2.
PP 96-97; PP 102-3.§X. :

45, "Pruth's Defence"(1682) PP 250-4.

46, "The Truth Exalted in the Writings of .. John Burnyeat",(lﬁgl)
P.84. . (Letter from Leith, 1684)

47, Ferguson "Early Cumberland and Westmorland Friends"(1871) P.57.

48, "Swarthmore MSS", Vol III, P.231l. (Letter from Robertson to
George Fox, 1657)
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CHAPTER VII.

"GEORGE FOX IN SCOTLAND"

George Fox's efforts to evangelise Scotland may
almost be said to have begun at Stath in the North Riding of York-
shire in 1651, when he answered fully the many questions of an
unnamed Scots Minister "concerning the light and the soul", for
although, after they parted, the Minister in a- rebound of passion
threatened dire things to Fox, he himself beceme a Quaker ultim-
ately, and Fox visited his housel But it was not till 1657 that
Fox crossed the Border on his first official visit,

Two motives impelled Fox to visit Scotland (1)
He was concerned about a comparatively little headway that the
Quaker Movement had made in that country. Despite the large
number of missionaries that had visited it, Francis Howgill, who
spent there ten weeks in the summer of 1657,reported Scotland
8till as "a dark and untoward nation" and its people, with "litle
desire after God", a people "false-hearted and bloodﬁhirsty".
The #Wational and religious prejudice of this not unnatural judge-
ment, intensified no doubt by his imprisonment and the rifling
of his baggage at DumfriesSmust of course be balanced by the fact |
that this "false-hearted and bloodthirsty people"had effected a :
far more thorough and stable reformation than the equivalent '
English compromise: it had put up as resolute a fight for religious:
liberty as 4id the Puritans: it had even sufficient reserves and
resources to spare foyhelping the English Farliament to crush the
despotism of Charles I : and it was preparing quietly for further
determined opposition to an impaceble tyranny that might arise at
any moment. This is not to deny however, that there was a good deal
in the ecclesiastical situation in Scotland to justify Howgill's
partiel view, and Fox was dissatisfied with the impact of the New
Light upon it. He confided to William Caton in 1656 that he might
go to Scotland and neively bade Caton "lay it upon him, which the
latter did !4 (2) The second and earlier motive was incidental to |
Fox's imprisonment in Carlisle Gaol in 1653, wgere he was incarcera-}
ted with thieves, murderers and moss troopers" .all of whom were
made very loving and subject to me". This forced association with
these Border raiders and advgnturers left Fox "with drawings on his
spirit to go into Scotland".

In September 1657, Fox crossed the Border from
Cumberland into Scotland, where he was destined to remain about
five months.” His travelling colleagues were James lLancaster,
Robert Widders, "a thunderinge man against hypocrisy & deceite & 9 -
ye rottennesse of the preists"8 who was more zealous than eloquent

T, Sewell's “Hisﬁory?(181l) VoI.TI,P.76. ,
2."A.R.B. Collection’(Euston lerary) No.31l. :
3. Broadside "To You the Parliement sitting at Westminstert(1659) ;
4, "Swarthmore MSS",Vol.I, P.364.(letter from Caton to Margaret Fell)
5. For Cromwell's attitude to the moss troopers etc. v Carlyle's .

"letters and Speeches’(1888) Vol.II,P.251.
6. F.Q.E. Vol. LXIV. (1930) P.212(ATt. on"g%? Drummond "by Brailsford)l

R " *, Ch,III,P.45.)1is wrong in stating th
’ %unnlgggggg(t%%engggegi is clear from~his Jour%al that itgwas t@,-
oX's 3

Surnal fid Jvol.I, P. 292,/9 cf"Piety Promoted}vol I. [
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and Alexander Parker of Chipping in West Yorkshire, a prolific
writer, intimate of William Penn, at whose marriage he was a
witness, and close cograde of Fox in his travels in Holland and
up and down England.l” At Fox's request Colonel Osborne came
down into Cumberland to act as their guide northwards.

. On their first night in Scotland, Fox and his
friends lodged at an inn. The story of Fox's visit to the neigh-
bouring Earl, who had expressed s sy{ong desire to see him if he
ever came to Scotland,is well known. 1 Hodgkin suggests that the
scene of this interview when the unknown nobleman,"received us
very lovingly", was Carlaverock, the seat of the Earl of Niths-
dale, but that Fox did not migtion his name in order not to expose
him to possible persecution, This identification is not improb-
able owing to the apparent proximity of the place to Dumfries,
which the Quakers passed through the next morning, and the three
drawbridges mentioned in Fox's"Journal". ' In his very full work
"The Book of Carlaverock" Fraser unfortunately makes no confirma-
tory mention of Fox, but if this incident took place at Carlaverock
Castle, thi Quakers' host must have been Robert, Second Earl of
Nithsdale,!d eleventhi4lord Maxwell, called "the Philosopher",who
died unmarried in 1667,

Fox's first clash was with the Church, a thing
inevitable. The mostienquiring and formative years of his
religious growth practically coincided with the dominance of
Presbyterianism in England from 1643 to 1648, when Calvinism was
rife. It was the teaching of Calvin's"InstitutesTnot of Hooker,
that Fox the youth was given from the pulpit of Fenny Drayton
parish Church by Nathaniel Stevens, the orthodox Fresbyterian

"priest™, one of the "Godly aig painfull ministers"” appointed by

the Commonwealth Parliament, “and it was from Calvinism that

Fox's soul revolted. His first rebellion was not against any
Church system or organisation per se nor against any sacramentalism
or theory of apostolic succession, nor even against Stevenig
persecuting tendencies as shown at Market Bosworth in 1649-“but
against the dogmas of Predestination, especially the supralapsarian;
Election; the idolatry of an infallible Bible; and the Puritanical
Sabbath.i7 He was too much of an Arminian and a Pelagian. If Fox

10. Parker accompanied Fox when he was sent up to Cromwell by Col. |
Hacker, For further details of Parker,v J.F.H.S.Vol VIII,PP 30-2
Thos. Rawlinson is also mentioned as a companion of Fox(F.P.T.
P.247 n.)

11. "Journal", (Cemb.Ed.)Vol I, P.292.

12. v "George Fox)(1896)Ch. X,P.152. |

13, "The Book of Carlaverock", (1873) Vol.I, P.583, .

14, Nicholas in his "The Siege of Carlaverock etc" (1828) says he
was the 9th Lord Maxwell(P.XXV.))

15, Edward's "Fenny Drayton®, PP 39, 41,42,

lé, Ibid,P.45.

17. ef Hodgsont's "George Fox", (1896) Intro: P.4.
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was not prepared for Scotland, Scotland was certainly not prepared
for him. Outwardly peaceable and actually benefiting-from
tangible aigantages of Cromwell's overlordship which they would
not admit, the Scottish people chafed bitterly under the firm
nilitery regime and beneath the chain of forts which they could
not storm. There was a strong underlying antipathy to everything
and everybody English,simply because they were English, among
every rank and class as a whole, and this made the people cling
with greater resolution to their Calvinistic creed and their
Presbyterian Kirk and discipline. Fox entered Scotland in par-
donable hope, for "as soone as ever my horse set his foote upon...
Scottish ground, ye Infinite sparkes of life sparkled about me,
&.. I saw ye seed of ye Seedsman Christm, But "abundance of clods,
fowle and filthy earth was above it" and "there was abundance of
chaffe & dross & dung" for Yhose removal or rectification drastic
expedients were called for.’ He found "priest and people were
puffed up with black airy notions...and that spirit of rebellion
which talked of election...and held them in a thraldom and drgg all
people from the guidance of the Spirit of God in themselves®,
There were undoubtedly grave elements in the Church which were re-
flected in the general religious condition of the land, and gave
anxiety to the discerning. Fox was not altogether unjustified.
But the Church was not derelict, nor was Religion. She had a certain
rugged strength still. The truth lies between the Jgiemiad of the
Quakers and the famous rosy picture of John Kirkton. ;
In Fox's visit to Scotland we are on very familiar
ground, for our chief source is Fox's own narrative in his "Journal".
Naturally enough he and his companions made straight from the Solway
through Dumfries to Lanarkshire, the céradle of the Movement in
Scotland, and had a good initial campaign in Douglas, Heads, Badcow
and Gartshore with an important visit to William Osborne's house in
the middle of it.

The Colonel's house was probably near the foot of
the Campsie Fells and there a conference was held which was a kind
of miniature‘Westminster Assembly’, for the outcome of it was a
notable book and declaration of faith. The sederunt consisted of
the host, Fox and his three companions, and the six part-authors or
compilers of "The Doctrines and Principles of the Priests of Scot-
land, contrary to the doctrine of Christ and the Apostles", viz.,
George Weir, John Hart, William Grey, William Lowry, William Mitchell
and Richard Esmaid, eleven in all. ‘
"The Scotch Priests' Principles"22is a document of |
first importance, published in 1659, the year after Fox left Scoﬂand{

18. For Carlyle's advocacy of this v"Cromwell's Letters"(1888)Vol II.
Notes appended to letter CLXXXIII PP 300-1l. cf Burnet's "History
of his own Time", (1883) Book I,P.40.

19. nswarthmore MSS"Vol VI, 121 (not transcribed) — Letter from Fox
to Barclay (1675). v also "The British Friend", (1846) PP 224-5,

20 %ggdcf the parallel passage in "The Journal®" (Camb.Ed.)Vol IJ%HD,

21. "secret and True History of the Church of Scotland!'PP 48-50 54U65q

22, Fox's short title for it.
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Part of it is a chronicle of early sufferings in Scotland, similer
to Besse's, and the larger part consists of vigorous and pungent
replies to hostile and unguarded ministerial utterances against

the Quakers and to "the Breists' principles.. collected out of
there owne madd bookes™.<3 The title page 1s a model of condensed
epitome, amd there is a large amount of personal invective accord-
ing to the mode of the age. Twelve Scots Ministers of "that dark
wilderness country", who presumably were specizlly noted for their
active dislike of the Quakers, and who all belonged to the Glasgow
area, were selected for pillory.24 The chief emphasis of the anti-
Quaker teaching or activity of each?% is set forth and answered.
Most are accused by the writers not only on doetrinal grounds, but
as being excommunicators or instigators of persecution "in Cain's
way". Only three, however, Hamilton, Aird, and Mackail <6 are
mentioned incidentally on the latter issue, while Burnet of East
Kilbride escapes altogether.27 The Polemic rages chiefly round

The" Inner Light% Prayer, the Scriptures, Baptism, Repentance, and
especially Election and Predestination. Chief attention is given
to Henry Forsyth of ILenzie (Kirkintilloch) and in this section is
one of the best Quaker answers to the Calvinistic dogma of Eéection,
full of rude ruthless logic which is likely Fox's own work.

All through the writing there are also vehement protests against

the "Christian zeal"™ of the Ministers and their people against the
"strangers'" whom they ought to entertain rather than persecute, and "
these protests culminate in the tirade which stigmatises the "priests
as true to type and unmistakeable successors of their religious
ancestry.<? The sum of it sll is that "there is a precious thing

in thesg Scots, but there is & filthy, beastly, durty thing lyeth
ovexr" Y

In the initial campaign before the Oshorne con-
ference was held, one of the most notable of all those "convinced"
of the Quaker faith was "Lady" Margaret Hamilton, who was excommun-
icated later by Somerville of New Monkland and Hugh Archibald of
Strathaven, two of "that generation of murdering priests"3l, and

23. n"Journal" (Camb. Ed.), Vol II, P. 338.

24. Iudovic Somerville is not listed,but appears on page 331,

25. Except Burnet of East Kilbride.

26. Father of Hugh Mackail. c¢f Broadside "To you the Parliament
sitting at Westminster” (1659), and Ross's "Busby and its
Neighbourhood”, (1883), P.66.

27. But cf "General Record of Friends in the West", (MS Vol 16.P 1)
for his imprisoning of Jack the Quaker, |

28. D.P.P.S. (1659), PP 339-342, and 343.

29. Page 344.

30. Page 354.

31. Alexander Parker, "A Testimony of the Appearance of God™ P 3.
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who later went to warn the Protector and General Fleetwood of the
coming day of the Lord.%2 After the conference, the Friends held a
greater meeting at Gartshore which was the actual beginning of the
clash with the ecclesiastical authorities. It was an open meeting,
"severall professors" being present. Fox lost no time in attacking
the grevalent if not highly popular dogmas of Election and Reproba-
tiond3and in refuting "ye folly of there preists' doctrines", which
he protested were based on an abuse of Seriptures.’% He made the
theory of Election a "reductio ad absurdum", especially in the light
of the universality of Christ's commission. He pleaded also the
universality of the Atonement39and insisted that the condition of
eternal life lay not in any fixed and arbitrary attitude of God to
man, but in man's attitude to God in Christ, and in his choice
between good and evil. Election if it meant anything Christian,
meant not whether God inflexibly and unconditionally chooses us,

but whether we voluntarily choose God. Similarly Reprobation was
reserved for those who turn Christ's "grace into wantonness™ and
reject God, and the ondy and sufficient thing to lead us to the
choice of Godwds beliefr in the Light of Christ within. So "ye
people was opned to see & a springe of life risse uppe amongst ymt36

The Church was quickly roused and took alarm to
no small extent, though Fox exaggerates no doubt the extent and
intensity of its apprehension. "Great assembliegéf priestsm(i.e.
probably Synods) were hurriedly constituted and drew up a list of
five "curses™ to be read in every Church and to which the people
were to say"Amen"—-% formula of a strangely Anglican flavour as
Bickley points out. 7 The full number is detailed in "The Scotch
Priests' Principles”" with the Friends' several replies and are as
follows :=9

"Cursed be all they that say grace is free, and let all the
people say Amen"

®"Cursed be all they that say the Scripturs is not the word
of God's, and let all the people say Amen"

32. I have been unable to identify "Lady Hamilton". Probably "Lady"
is a courtesy title given as Torrance suggests to her as the
wife of a laird in some side branch of the Hamilton family.
33. Macpherson points out however, that some of the best of the
Covenanting preachers of that day were not entirely consistent
in their preaching with their adherence to this theological
system, and some like Blackadder, Cargill,and notably Wm.Guthrie
were grandly inconsistent. (v "The Covenanters under Persecution”,
Ch.IV, P.76-77) On the other hend,Croese goes too far in saying .
that the Church of Scotland not only never taught, but abhorred
these doctrines.("General History" Book I, PP71-2) !
34. "Journal"”, (Camb.Ed.) Vol I, P.293. !
35. cf Keith's "Truth's Defence", (1678) PP 186-210. |
36, "Journal", (Camb,Ed.) Vol I, P.295, |
37. "George Fox and the Early Quakers", P.158.
38. D.P,P.S. (1859) PP 335-6. cf the incomplete list in Fox's (Camb)
"Journal®, Vol I, P 2¢s. | |
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"Cursed be all they that say, Faith is without sin, and
let all the people say Amen",(Referring to Quaker
'‘Perfectionism®)

"Cursedare all they that say that every man hath a light
sufficient to lead him to Christ, and that within him,
and let all the people say Amen™.

"Cursed be all they that deny the Sabbath day, and let all
the people say Amen'".39

Such was the text of the Scottish Church's
anathema of the Quakers following up the excommunication by the
Synod of Glasgow. The man chiefly responsible for this concerted
action was Matthew Mackail, Minister of Bothwell, who himself,
like his son later, suffered persecution.4o "T do verily beleeve™,
wrote Alexander Parker "that if the Priests in England and Scotland
(especially) had but power to execute what malice and envie is in
their hearts, there would be a more.bloody day than yet hath been,"4l

But Fox and his friends were unperturbed by any
Presbyterian curses or ecclesiastical furore.In his company,or
apart from Egm,the Friends "spreade over Scotland soundin& ye day
of ye Lord": Widders went to the Church of New Monkland®°
(Airdrie), the Parish of Ludovie Somervillz44, and gave his testi-
nony "in godly Zeal for the Truth's sake"%9 Towards the end of
the year 1657, and early in 1658, Parker travelled in Angus, Fife
and Clydesdale. He visited Forfar and Dundee and then crossed to
Cupar-Fife. At this time the English Army of Occupation was
being purged of Quakers, and in the Cupar Garrison Parker had no
small success, The Commanding Officer had been Captain Watkinson
who was cashiered. "There is a Corporall stands pretty firme
according to measure" wrote Parker to Fox, "and one of two
troopers, and meets together on the first dayes... I had a good
service there...there is love in sevrall of ye souldiers, but at
ye prsent darre not appear. A Capt wife of ye Castle andaltts
wife stands convinced and ownes ye Truth, and are very willing to
come to visite friends when they can gett Li't)e::'1:3r."46 From Cupar

39, cf Croese's interpretation of the Quaker rejoinder to this
"curse". ("General History" Bk.I, P.72)

40, Scott's "Fasté? (New Ed.) Vol.III, P.230.

41, "A Discovery of Satan's Wiles and his subtile Devices etc”(1657)
P. 13.

42, "Journal", (Camb.Ed.) Vol.I, P.296.

43. v "The Life and Death, Travels and Sufferings of Robert Widders"
(1688) P, 4: "Plety Promoted",Vol I, P.98. !

44 ofD.P.P.S, P. 331l; v also Scott's "Fasté". (New Ed.) Vol III,P.271.

45, "The Life and Death etc. of Robert Widders" P, 24.

46, Letter from Leith to George Fox dated 1l3th January, 1658, in
rSwarthmore MSS", Vol III, PP 39-40.

.
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41 he returned probably by Stirling or Alloa to Gartshore and Badcow
431 where meetings were held and new convincements reported. At

i Glasgow he seems to have had rather a rough handling, for when he

"% tried to speak in one of "their great steeplehouses", probably the
2, Trén or Blackfriars,after"one of ye dreamers'" had finished utter-~

; ing his dead invented stuff", he was roughly hustled out and
followed by a gathering crowd towards the Cross. There Parker

was arrested and taken before a Magistrate who refused to hear

i him and flung him into the Tolbooth for several hours.%” At

i i Douglas, Heads, and elsewhere in the West Country, the outlook

| { seemed to Parker much more promising. Subsequently he returned to
E Edlnburgh gnd Leith, where he was not too encouraged, but still
4 sanguine. It was probably then that,in common w1th George Fox
4 the"younger”who was also in Scotland, he had his letters taken

4 from him and destroyed Monck and his Council.49® pParker was also
y imprisoned by Monck, and Fox the "yoinger"sent to the Orkneys.90

{: To Parker Scotland seemed on the whole a very tough proposition.

£ Neither had Fox himself been idle since the

i MCurses™, After he "had gathered uppe ye principles of ye Scotts

ggexpriests and ye sufferinges of freinds"®, °1"and hed seen the Friends

?é in that part of Scotlend settled, he left the Gartshore district
for Edinburgh. At Linlithgow where he lodged en route, the

cheering conversion of the Inkeeper s wife was offset by a mixed

reception from a crowd of officers and soldiers who came in, one

B A e S R T

* After a time in Edinburgh, Fox went to Leith accompanied by William
4. 0sborne. The little company of Friends there consisted chiefly of
4 English officers and their wives, several of whom were convinced.

% The Baptists, as at Perth later,and in Edinburgh immediately after,
‘I were "very rude", but in spite of everything adverse, Fox and

4 Osborne had"a fine pretious time". 53 The house of a widow named

4 Agnes Alexander was a favourite rendezvous of the Quekers, and in

' December she was "discharged.. to convein"them "in her chamber gqF

- frequentlie they meitt"94 When Fox reached Edinburgh again, there
' wds, a great crowd of many thousands "with abundans of preists"

¢ round the pyre of a wretched woman who was being burned as & witch
j ~ on the Castlehill, and he siezed the opportunity to preach to them.
. The English officers in charge of the Military Cordon regarded the
4 ; Witch's noffence" with scepticism, and the poor victig with pity

‘¢ 1 and sympathy, but allowed the law to take its course,.°5
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3 Meanwhile the Ministers of the Church realising
4+: that their Curses were impotent to arrest the spread of the Quaker
4 message and the drifting of many of their parishioners, sent a

L 47. Ibid,PP 40-41.
.« 480 Ibid,Po4lo
‘;§9, v Broadside "To You the Parliament sitting at Westminstern(1659)
© 50, Ibid.
‘51, "Journal®, (Camb.Ed.) Vol.I, P.296.
52, Ibid.
53. Ibid, P.=297.

gg: ggg?gtgggdgn;§ouggm elgh Recggds"&%g%ii's "S?ary"Vol II, P.202.

officer being specially objectionable and probably far from sober,92
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deputation post haste to Edinburgh to petition the Protector's
Council against Fox, and when Fox returned to-his inn from the
Castlehill, an officer handed him a summons signed by Emmenuel
Downing, Clerk to His Highness' Couneil in Scotland, citing him
to appear on the following Tuesday morning. Thus began the
clash between the State authorities and the Quakers, which drew
from the latter the bitter taunt against the Church of appealing
to Caesar as the Scribes and Pharisees did,and thrusting on to
the civil powers the distasteful execution of its own "madness
and envy" that its bloodguiltiness and "wicked peace might not be
disturbed",o6

" The Council, all but two of whom were English-
men% had been appointed by Cromwell only two years before, and
consisted of nine members including Monck who was the controlling
force.%8 When Fox duly appeared before them they were adamant.
But they were not bitter: they were bored. Fox opened the pwo-
ceedings with a religious salutation. When he was asked the
occasion of his coming to Scotland, he replied that it was "to
visitt ye seede of God which had longe layne in death & bondage..
yt all in ye nation yb¥ did professe ye scriptures of Christ ye
prophetts and ye Apostl%s might come to ye light, spiritt, &
power, as they was in y' gave y@ foorth"., Fox admitted he had no
"outward busnesse'" in the country and refused to bind himself as
to the duration of his stay. The Council, in turn, refused to
listen to him further, or to give reasons for ordering him to
quit the country within 7 days, and being let go, he returned to
his inn%9,.

Fox had no intention of obeying the Council's
notice to quit, and from the remaining story of his visit in
Scotland, Watson is probably justified in saying that "it is
likely that the Council cared little whether he obeyed it or not, 50
At all events, Fox made cdear his defiance of the Council in two
ways, (1) by the letter he wrote to them shortly after, protesting
against what he considered their unchristian dealing in banishing
an innocent man that soughttheir salvation and eternal good, and
putting them on the same level "with the wicked ggvious preists &
the stoners, strikers & mockers in the streets", (2) By embark-
ing soon on a long propaganda tour, which, strangely enough, he was
allowed to cogglete at will, and which must have occupied two to
three months,

56. D,P.P.S. PP 3&9,333.

57. The two Scots members were the Laird of Swinton and Colonel
Lockhart. Baillie sneers bitterly at the "English sojours" and
"our complying gentlemen". (Letters Vol III, P.288)

58. Firth points out, however, that Roger Boyle, Lord Broghil, the
President, left Scotland in 1656, (v "The Last Years of the
Protectorate", Vol II, P.91.) He was incidentally a close friend

of Admiral Penn.
59, "Journal", (Camb.Ed.) Vol I, P.298,
60. J.S. Watson "The Life of George Fox", (1860) P. 189.
6l. "Journal®(Camb.Ed.) Vol I, PP 301-2.

62. of Besse's "Sufferings", Vol II, P.495.
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Commencing with a return visit to Heads, where he
found the Quakers suffering severely from_the effect of the
Synod of Glasgow's recent excommunications, Fox accampanied by
Widders reached Glasgow to discover that no one would come to a
meeting which had been arranged. So after some open-air preaching,
they Jjourneyed towards Badcow and landed back at William Osborne's.

Now comes the most disputed poigz in Fox's Scot-
tish i